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This is a translation of the Hungarian Report
Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholder of MAV-START Zrt.
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying 2019 annual financial statements of MAV-
START Zrt. (“the Company"), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December
2019 - showing a balance sheet total of HUF 374,047 million and a profit after tax
for the year of HUF 2,152 million - , the related profit and loss account for the
financial year then ended and notes to the annual financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the equity
and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of the results of
its operations for the financial year then ended in accordance with the Act C of 2000
on Accounting ("Hungarian Accounting Law").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hungarian National Auditing Standards
and with applicable laws and requlations in Hungary. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the "Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the
annual financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the applicable ethical
requirements according to relevant laws in effect in Hungary and the policy of the
Chamber of Hungarian Auditors on the ethical rules and disciplinary proceedings
and, concerning matters not requlated by any of these, with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of matters

We draw the attention to Note V to the financial statements, which refers to the
Company’s eligibility for the reimbursement of justified expenses not offset with
revenues incurred in relation to public services. The Company reported
reimbursement of operating expenses received for 2019 in an amount of HUF
173,641 million plus HUF 894 million received for previous years, totalling HUF
174,535 million, and outstanding receivable reimbursement of HUF 37,615 million.
The settlement process is still outstanding with the competent ministry at the date of
this report. As the reimbursement for 2019 will be approved as part of the settlement
process for 2019, these amounts may be subject to change. We do not modify our
opinion in this respect.
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Other information

Other information consists of the 2019 business report of the Company. Management
is responsible for the preparation of the business report in accordance with the
Hungarian Accounting Law and other relevant legal requirements, if any. Our opinion
on the annual financial statements does not cover the business report.

In connection with our audit of the annual financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the business report and, in doing so, consider whether the business report is
materially inconsistent with the annual financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Concerning the business report it is our responsibility also, in accordance with the
Hungarian Accounting Law, to“consider whether the business report has been
prepared in accordance with the Hungarian Accounting Law and other relevant legal
requirements, if any.

In our opinion, the business report of the Company for 2019 is consistent, in all
material respects, with the 2019 annual financial statements of the Company and the
relevant requirements of the Hungarian Accounting Law.

Since no other legal regulations prescribe for the Company further requirements with
regard to its business report, we do not express opinion in this regard.

Further to the above, based on the knowledge we have obtained about the Company
and its environment in the course of the audit we are required to report whether we
have identified any material misstatement in the business report, and if so, the nature
of the misstatement in question. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the annual
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual
financial statements in accordance with the Hungarian Accounting Law, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.
Management is required to apply going concern principle unless the applicability of
that principle is precluded by other provisions or there are facts and circumstances
that contradict with the continuance of the Company’s business activity.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's
financial reporting process.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the annual financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a quarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Hungarian National Auditing Standards and with
applicable laws and requlations in Hungary will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Hungarian National Auditing Standards and
with applicable laws and regulations in Hungary, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

» Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the annual
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal controls of the Company that we
identify during our audit.

Budapest, 29 April 2020

(The original Hungarian version has been signed.)

Kujbus Attila Lelkes Tamas
Ernst & Young Kft. Registered auditor
1132 Budapest, Vdci ut 20. Chamber membership No.: 007349

Registration No. 001165
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BALANCE SHEET - Assets
31 December 2019

Page 1/6

Figures in_nillion HUF

Previous Current
No. Description year 31
December year
a b [ e
A. |Non-current assets 262 386 288 713
1 |INTANGIBLE ASSETS 6153 7678
1. |Caputalised cost of foundation/restructuring 0 0
2 |Capitalised cost of development 66 0
3. |Concessions, licenses and simlar rights 729 1111
4 |Intellectual property 5358 6124
5 |Goodwill 0 0
6. |Advance payments for intangible assets 0 443
7. |Revaluation of intangible assets 0 0
II. ]TANGIBLE ASSETS 255980 280 782
1. |Land and buildings and related property rights 3030 4288
2 |Plant, machinery, equipment and vehicles 200 146 208 738
3 |Other equipment, fixtures and fittings, vehicles 2 5
4 |Breeding stock 0 0
5 |Tangible assets under construction 10 021 17 798
6. |Advance payments for assets under construction 42 781 49 953
7 _|Revaluation of tangible assets 0 0
III |LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS 253 253
Long-term investments in related parties 252 252
Long-term loans granted to related parties 0 0
3 Long-term investments in undertakings with which the undertaking s linked by
virtue of participating interest 0 0
4 Long-term loans granted to undertakings with which the undertaking 1s linked by
virtue of participating interest 0 0
5 |Other long-term investments 1 1
6 |Long-term loans granted to other investments 0 0
7_|Other long-term loans granted 0 0
8 ILong-term debt securities 0 0
9 {Revaluation of financial investments 0 0
10. |Fair value adjustment of financial investments 0 0

Date: Budapest, 29 April 2020
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BALANCE SHEET - Assets

31 December 2019

Page 2/6

Figures in_ million HUF

Previous Current
No. Description year 31
December year
a b c e
B. |Current assets 77 597 81 789
I |INVENTORIES 23916 28483
1 |Raw materials and consumables 18018 21 365
2 |Work in progress and semi-finished products 2124 3620
3. |Animals for breeding, fattening and other livestock 0 0
4. |Fimshed products 1327 1 866
5 |Goods 12 14
6 |Advance payments for inventories 2435 1618
1I. IRECEIVABLES 51844 49 883
1 |Accounts receivable 4875 4671
2 |Receivables from related parties 796 1241
3 Recetvables from undertakings with which the undertaking 1s linked by virtue of
participating interest 185 189
4. |Receivables from other investments 18 20
5. |Notes receivable 0 0
6 |Other receivables 45970 43 762
7 |Fair value adjustment of receivables 0 0
8 |Positive fair value adjustment of derivatives 0 0
11l |SECURITIES 0 0
1 |Investments in related parties 0 0
2 Investments in undertakings with which the undertaking 1s linked by virtue of
participating interest 0 0
3 |Other investments 0 0
4 |Treasury shares and interests repurchased 0 0
5. |Marketable debt securities 0 0
6 |Fair value adjustment of securities 0 0
1V, |CASH AND BANK 1837 3423
1. |Cash, cheques 155 156
2 |Bank deposits 1682 3267
C. |Prepaid expenses & accrued income 4358 3545
1. JAccrued income 2034 1285
2 |Prepaid exp 1285 1192
3. |Deffered expenses 1039 1068
[ Total assets | 344341] 374047

Date Budapest, 29 April 2020
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13834492-4910-114-01
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01-10-045551
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BALANCE SHEET - Equity and liabilities

Date

31 December 2019

Page 3/6

Figures in_mullion HUF

Previous Current
No. Description year 31
December yer
a b ¢ e
D. |Equity 126 771] 132 849
1 |REGISTERED CAPITAL 43742 45 000
of which _treasury shares redeemed at face value 0 0
Il |[REGISTERED CAPITAL NOT PAID (-) 0 0
III [CAPITAL RESERVE 67 633 71301
IV |RETAINED EARNINGS 8033 13 938
V_|NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE 584 458
VI |REVALUATION RESERVE 0 0
1| Valuation reserve of revaluation 0 0
2 | Valuation reserve for mark to fair value 0 0
VII |[PROFIT / LOSS FOR THE YEAR 6779 2152
E. |Provisions 6299 6778
1. |Provisions for expected liabilities 2147 1618
2 |Provisions for future costs 3632 4 550
3. |Other provisions 520 610
F. |Liabilities 106 224 126 641
I |SUBORDINATED DEBT 0 0
1 |Subordinated debts to related parties 0 0
2 Subordinated debts to undertakings with which the undertaking is linked by
virtue of participating 0 0
3_|Subordinated debts to other investments 0 0
4 |Subordinated debts to third parties 0 0
11 |LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 16 988 14 062
1 |Long-term borrowings 0 0
2. |Convertible bonds 0 0
3. |Bonds payable 0 0
4 |Loans received for investment and development 10 785 8584
5 |Other long-term loans 6 163 5478
6 |Long-term debts to related parties 0 0
2 Long-term debts to undertakings with which the undertaking 1s linked by virtue of]
| |participating interest 0 0
8. |Long-term debts to other investments 0 0
9 [Other long-term liabihities 40 0

Budapest, 29 April 2020
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BALANCE SHEET - Equity and liabilities

31 December 2019
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Figures in_million HUF

Previous Current
No. Description year 31
December year
a b 4 e
III. [CURRENT LIABILITIES 89 236 112579
1. |Short-term borrowings 0 0
of which convertible and mandatory convertible bonds 0 0
2 |Other short-term loans 11 639 19 737
3 |Advances received from trade debtors 5 4
4. |Accounts payable 10117 10 103
5. |Notes payable 0 0
6 |Short-term debts to related parties ° 18 813 26 633
7 Short-term debts to undertakings with which the undertaking is linked by virtue
of participating interest 2 040 1501
8. |Short-term debts to other investments 9 27
9. |Other current habihities 46613 54 574
10 |Fair value adjustment of liabilities 0 0
11 |Negative fair value adjustment of denivatives 0 0
G. |Accrued expenses and deferred income 105 047 107779
1 [Prepaid income 311 256
2 |Accrued expenses 4327 4564
3 |Deferred income 100 409 102 959
[ Total equity & liabitities | 344341] 374 047

Date. Budapest, 29 April 2020
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (total-cost method)

31 December 2019 Figures in million HUF
Previous Current
No. Description year 31
December year

a b ¢ e
01, |Domestic sales revenue, net 85916 83 453
02. |Export sales revenue, net 14 352 16 404
I. |Net sales (01+02) 100 268 99 857
03. |Changes in self produced inventories 226 2035
04. |Capitalised value of self produced assets 15 096 21002
II. [Capitalised own performance (£03+04) 15 322 23 037
II1. |Other gains 174 644] 180 785
of which: impairment reversed 108 31
05. |Raw materials and consumables used 42 768 50 496
06. |Services purchased 121 017 127 819
07. |Other services 2061 2182
08. |Cost of goods sold 233 269
09. |Cost of sold (intermediated) services 2 809 2 828
IV. {Material-type expenses (05+06+07+08+09) 168 888| 183 594
10. {Payroll cost 64 721 68 856
11. |Other employee benefits 8 872 8 811
12. |Social security and other contributions 15 330 15 889
V. [Personnel related expenses (10+11+12) 88 923 93 556
VI. |Depreciation expense 19 989 20 750
VII. |Other expenses 3237 3214
of which: impairment loss 233 343
A. |OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS (I+1I£ITI-IV-V-VI-VII) 9197 2 565

Date: Budapest, 29 April 2020
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (total-cost method)

31 December 2019

Page 6/6

Figures in million HUF

Previous Current
No. Description year 31
December year
a b ¢ e
13, |Dividends (due) received 1 200
of which: from related parties 1 200
14, [Disposal and other gains of equity investments 0] 0
of which: from related parties 0 0
15 Disposal and other gains of long-term financial investments
" |(securities, loans) 0 0
of which' from related parties 0 0
16. |Other interest received (due) and similar income 23 2
of which' from related parties 0 0
17. |Other financial gamns 464 502
of which: fair value adjustment 0 0
VIII. |Financial gains (13+14+15+16+17) 488 704
18. |Disposal and other losses of equity investments 0 0
of which: to related parties 0 0
19 Disposal and other losses of long-term financial investments
(securities, loans) 0 0
of which: to related parties 0 0
20. |Interest payable (paid) and similar charges 404 411
of which: to related parties 0 0
21 Impairment loss of shares, securities, long-term loans granted, bank
deposits 0 0
22 |Other financial losses 2502 706
of which: fair value adjustment 0 0
IX. |Financial losses (18+194:20+21) 2 906 1117
B. |FINANCIAL PROFIT/LOSS (VIII-IX) -2 418 -413
C. |PROFIT/LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (+A+B) 6779 2152
X. |Tax expense 0 0
D. |PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR (xC-X) 6 779 2152
Date:  Budapest, 29 April 2020
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.1 The Company

Incorporation and business operations

MAV-START Vasuti Személyszallité Zartkorien Miikods Részvénytarsasag (MAV-START Railway Passenger
Transport Company, hereafter “MAV-START Zrt.” or the Company) was founded by MAV Magyar
Allamvasutak Zartkériien M{ikédé Részvénytarsasag (MAV Hungarian State Railways Private Company
Limited by Shares) as a single-shareholder company on 15 October 2006. By establishing MAV-START Zrt.,
MAV Zrt’s aim was to transfer its rail passenger transport business on its standard-gauge rail network to
the newly set-up Company as of 1 July 2007.

in early 2014, MAV-TRAKCIO Zrt., a company that carried out rail traction operations, and MAV-GEPESZET
Zrt., a company that performed the repair and maintenance of rolling stock, merged into the Company.
Thus, since January 2014, MAV-START Zrt. has encompassed rail activities that are essential to rail
passenger transport, such as the operations conducted by cashiers, conductors, carriage and wagon
inspectors and train drivers as well as rolling stock repair and maintenance personnel. An integrated MAV-
START Zrt. is thus capable of performing all the activities essential and directly related to serving the
travelling public and to delivering high quality passenger services.

The Articles of Association contain the key provisions for MAV-START Zrt’s operations, organisation and
governance system.

The Company does not elect a Board of Directors; the powers of the Board of Directors are exercised by
the Chief Executive Officer who is considered a senior officer. The Company’s working organisation is
managed by the Chief Executive Officer.

Key corporate details of the Company

° Name of the Company in Hungarian

MAV-START Vasti Személyszallité Zartkorien Mikods Részvénytarsasag

e Name in of the Company in foreign languages
In English: MAV-START Railway Passenger Transport Company
In French: MAV-START Transport des Voyageurs Ferroviaires S.A.
In German: MAV-START Bahnpersonenverkehrs AG

e  Short name of the Company

MAV-START Zrt.

e  Short name of the Company in foreign languages
In English: MAV-START Co
In French: MAV-START S.A.
In German: MAV-START AG

e  Registered office of the Company

H-1087 Budapest, Konyves Kalman korat 54-60., Hungary, phone: +36 (1) 511 3160

MAV-START Zrt. Notes to the financial statements for 2019 5175
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e  Website of the Company

www.mavcsoport.hu

*  Founder of the Company

MAV Magyar Allamvasutak Zartkoriien Miikodé Részvénytarsasag

e  The Company’s
Registration number: Cg. 01-10-045551
Tax number: 13834492-2-44
Statistical code: 13834492-4910-114-01

o  The Company’s principal activity
45.10°08 Interurban railway transport

e  Authorised representative

The name and domicile of Company’s authorised representative who is authorised to sign the annual
financial statements: Jozsef Kerékgyarto, Chief Executive Officer (2000 Szentendre, Erdész koz 12.)

e Personal details of the person responsible for bookkeeping and reporting

Public particulars of the person responsible for the management of accounting tasks: Zsolt Karsai (H-2213
Monorierdd, Gyongyvirag u. 13., Hungary), MAV-START reporting manager, MAV Szolgéltaté Kézpont Zrt.,
registration number: MK181680.

e Auditors

Auditors: Ernst & Young Konyvvizsgald Kft.
Statutory auditor: Tamas Lelkes, registered auditor (MKVK 007349)
An audit of the annual financial statements is mandatory.

Contractual audit fee: HUF 17.25 million

e Share capital and shareholder

As at 31 December 2019, the share capital of MAV-START Zrt. totalled HUF 45,000,000,000, all held by the
founder, MAV Zrt. (H-1087 Budapest, Kényves Kalman krt. 54-60., Hungary).

In decision No. 32/280/2018 dated 12 December 2018, the Founder decided a share premium based
capital increase of HUF 1,865,000,000 and the Company’s share capital was increased by a cash
contribution of HUF 58,486,000 to HUF 43,800,000,000. The capital increase was registered by the
Companies Court on 10 January 2019.

In decision No. 25/280/2019 dated 7 August 2019, the Founder decided a share premium based capital
increase of HUF 3,060,670,000 and the Company'’s share capital was increased by a non-cash contribution
of HUF 1,200,000,000 to HUF 45,000,000,000. The capital increase was registered by the Companies Court
on 5 September 2019.

6/75 MAV-START Zrt. Notes to the financial statements for 2019
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.2 Significant accounting policies

Key accounting policies used for the preparation of the financial statements

In addition to meeting the requirements set out in the accounting act, the Company’s accounting policies
also complies with the provisions of Act CLXXXIH of 2005 on Railway Transport (hereinafter referred to as
the Railway Transport Act) and Joint Decree 50/2007. (IV.26.) of the Transport Ministry and the Ministry
of Finance on the unbundling of accounts for various railway activities within railway companies
(hereinafter referred to as: the Decree). Accordingly, an annual supervisory report on the Company'’s
separable activities must be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements (see Section 1V).

The Company’s financial year corresponds to the calendar year, i.e. the reporting date is 31 December.

The balance sheet, profit and loss account and notes to the annual report contains figures for monetary
values in HUF millions (HUF M) in compliance with the accounting act, except for the statement on
passenger transport activities, for which figures are provided in HUF thousands (HUF K) as per the Decree,
and the tables presenting the Company’s investments, for which monetary values are provided in HUF.

The balance sheet preparation date is 21 February of the year following the reporting year.

The Company keeps records of incurred expenses broken down by expense type in account class 5 and it
does not perform any secondary cost-centre/cost-unit accounting in account classes 6 and 7.

The Company always capitalises the costs of establishment/restructuring and research & development,
provided that the applicable legal conditions are met.

The Company keeps permanent records of the quantity and value of its inventories, with the exception of
ticket inventories, coupons and gift vouchers.

The Company defines an error of substantial amount in accordance with Section3(3)3. of the accounting
act as follows:

An error is material if, in the year when the error is identified, the aggregate of the absolute value of errors
and/or their impact increasing/decreasing the profit or loss and/or equity identified during various audits
of the same year exceeds either 2% of the balance sheet total for the audited business year or HUF 1
million where 2% of the balance sheet total is less than HUF 1 million.

Under continuous bookkeeping, items for previous years are recognised in the same way as items from
the reporting year, but are kept separate in terms of the period to which they apply. When an audit or
self-audit reveals error(s) of a significant amount in the annual financial statements of previous years,
adjustments of previous year(s) resulting from final findings that became known and were not challenged
or appealed against until the balance sheet date are presented in the notes to the financial statements
for each item on the balance sheet and the profit and loss account next to the previous year’s figures for
the 5 years preceding the reporting year, broken down by year. Adjustments for a period more than 5
years prior are presented in the notes in the aggregate with the figures for the 5th year. items for previous
years considered significant are recognised in retained earnings in the monthly accounts.

Transactions of an exceptional amount and occurrence

Income and expense items recognised in any line over HUF 10 million are classified as exceptional and
presented item by item in the notes if arose from any of the following events:

e contribution in kind (capital contribution),

e assets transferred/received free of charge

o gifts, estate,

e discontinued operations without legal succession,

e discontinued operations with legal succession (transformation, merger, demerger),
e reducing share capital through disinvestment,

e cancelled debt,
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e assigned liabilities,
e assumed debt,
e forgiven liabilities,
e cash received free of charge
e cash transferred free of charge

services supplied free of charge,

services used free of charge,

e operational subsidy received,

e development subsidy received,

e grants any legal grounds

e other items accounted for as other income and other expenses not listed above,
presented in note I1.2.3

Definition of significant value with regard to certain accounts and assets

With regard to the extraordinary depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible assets,
the difference between the book value and the market value is considered significant if it exceeds 5%
of the asset’s book value prior to the recognition/reversal of extraordinary depreciation or
amortisation or HUF 1 million as a minimum.

With regard to the recognition and reversal of impairment loss on equity investments and debt
instruments, the difference between the book value and the fair value is significant if it exceeds 5%
of the asset’s book value prior to the recognition/reversal of impairment or HUF 1 million as a
minimum, irrespective of whether they are held in non-current financial assets or current assets. In
any case, the difference is considered significant if it exceeds HUF 500 million.

With regard to the recognition and reversal of impairment loss on receivables (including trade and
other receivables), the difference between the book value and the fair value will always be considered
significant.

With regard to the recognition and reversal of impairment loss on purchased supplies (materials,
goods), the difference between the book value and the fair value is significant if it exceeds 20% of the
asset’s book value prior to the recognition/reversal of impairment. With regard to the recognition and
reversal of impairment loss on produced inventories (work in progress, semi-finished and finished
products), the difference between the fair value and the expected sales price, reduced by expected
costs and increased by the expected support, is significant if it exceeds 20% of the asset’s book value
prior to the recognition/reversal of impairment.

With a view to Section 16(5) of the accounting act (the principle of cost/benefit comparison), for
economic transactions outside the corporate group influencing earnings, net items exceeding HUF 2
million are recognised as accruals or deferrals on the reporting date. An exception is made for network
access charges, which are always recognised. For transactions related to invoices, an item represents
the net total of the invoice, while for items not related to invoices, an item represents the amount
indicated in the document (e.g. contract, decision, calculation, etc.) that serves as the basis for the
recognition of the economic transaction in the accounting system. Intra-group transactions affecting
the profit or loss, all accruals and deferrals are recognised at the reporting date, irrespective of their
value.

Provisioning principles are included in Note I1.1.5.

With regard to the recognition of deferred income, all items are considered significant and will be
recognised against other gains and income from financial transactions with respect to the offset
costs/expenses.

8/75
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1.3 Changes in the accounting policies in 2019

In 2019, the Company adopted a new set of accounting policies, including a new valuation policy in the
form of EVIG Order 20/2019 (MAV Notice No. 7 of 3 May) and EVIG Order 17/2019 (MAV Notice No. 6 of
12 April) and were first applied for the financial year started 1 January 2019. However, as there was no
significant change in the applied measurement procedures, the new policies have no material impact on
the Company’s equity and financial position and the results of its operations.

.4 Unbundling of the accounts for the Company’s railway activities

In compliance with Section 7 of the Decree 50/2007. (IV.26.} of the Transport Ministry and the Ministry
of Finance on the unbundling of accounts for various railway activities within railway companies, the
Company has accounting unbundling rules as part of its Accounting Policy.

Pursuant to the account unbundling rules, the principles for unbundling the accounts for railway activities
are as follows:

1. Separate accounts are kept for:
a) passenger transportation performed as a public rail service,
b) passenger transportation not performed as a public service, and
c) other activities,
while having central management (company overhead expenses) shared among public passenger
transportation, non-public passenger transportation and other activities.

2. The Company recognises its activities as assigned to business lines and accounts for them in separate
businesses:
a) Public service passenger transport: passenger transport service provided on the basis of a public
service contract and ancillary services
Public service passenger transport division (5K),
o Public service passenger transport — suburban segment (SKE),
o Public service passenger transport — regional segment (SKR),
o Public service passenger transport — interurban segment (SKT);
b) Non-public passenger transport: passenger transport services other than those provided on the
basis of a public service contract and ancillary services, including
Non-public service passenger transport division (SN);
c) Other activities: services other than those related to passenger transport (e.g. traction,
maintenance and cars testing for third parties). Other activities division (E).

3. The various divisions and their unbendable activities are as follows:

a) Public service passenger transport division: this division includes the trains used for scheduled,
ordered public service passenger transport (including scheduled, ordered public service passenger
trains departing from or arriving at a foreign destination and railcars operated in public service
passenger train vehicles (other than own buffet cars and sleepers) leased to or from partner
railways;

b) Non-public passenger transport division: this division includes various activities that are related
to passenger transport but are not attributable to public service:

o the inland section of passenger train services operated on an arm’s length basis (with a
departure point or destination inland or abroad) and contractual passenger train services
both inland and abroad (in the case of contracted services, the train operator company
keeps the fare revenues in return for the contractor fee paid);

o non-public service passenger train vehicles (other than own buffet cars and sleepers)
leased to or from partner railway companies;
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o

renting passenger trains (both public and non-public) with own sleepers and buffet cars
to partner railways, domestic operations of these trains, and provision of on-board
services;

c) Other activities division: according to a general system concept, this division includes all
profitable activities that are not attributable to passenger transport:

o}
o
o

O O O O

contractual traction services;

contractual shunting services;

renting out non passenger railcars to partner railways, private railways and other
customers;

contractual freight railcar maintenance;

contractual train surveys and testing;

contractual on-call and other accident prevention services;

repairs, manufacturing and renovation of other rail vehicles and parts production on
order.

4. All assets and liabilities related to the activities are separated on the basis of the use of the resource
(asset, headcount) for the activity, and are accounted for in the applicable business. For underlying
transactions (contracting, resolution, decision, etc.), classification is based on the activity typical for
the originating organisation. Otherwise, when the transaction relates to a future business event (e.g.
provisioning), it must be assigned to the activity that is expected to be concerned by the business

event.

5. The revenues from and expenses on the activities are presented broken down by unbendable activity
detailed in section 3 above. The Company’s common operating expenses, other than central
management cost, are allocated among public passenger transportation, non-public passenger
transportation and other activities on the basis of typical passenger transport performance (e.g. seat-
km) and other indicators (e.g. the mileage of rolling stock). The revenues and expenses related to trains
are allocated based on the joint application of the following two methods:

a) allocation of trains to unbendable activities based on train categories;

b) allocation of the relevant economic activities carried out on board of the trains to directly
unbendable activities — irrespective of which unbendable activity the train itself is allocated to
(e.g. operating own sleepers cars or buffet cars = SN).

6. Company overhead expenses are shared among public passenger transportation, non-public passenger
transportation and other activities (recognised payroll costs) proportionately, using projection bases.

7. Headcount for the activity is determined on the basis of the organisation assignment of public
passenger transportation, non-public passenger transportation and other activities.

The Company prepares an annual supervisory report as part of the notes to the financial statements. The
annual supervisory report includes the following statements and explanatory narrative assessments
compiled about the activities to be separated: balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash-flow
statement, statement on activities with narrative assessment, average statistical headcount of employees
employed in the reporting year, subsidies by title, gains from related companies and expenses incurred in
relation to them by related company.

There were no amendments in accounting unbundling in the reporting year.

10/75
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.5 Measurement methods applied by the Company

1.5.1 Standard measurement policies

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are initially recognised by the Company as
converted to HUF based on the official foreign exchange rates published by Hungarian Central Bank.

For financial instruments, the Company does not apply the fair value method provided for in Section 59/A-
F of the accounting act.

1.5.2 Measurement of non-cumrent assets

The ordinary depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible assets is charged monthly on
a straight line basis over the expected useful life of the asset per calendar day.

For the ordinary depreciation of , TRAXX locomotives”, all post-commissioning loan interest is also taken
into consideration along with the expected foreign exchange losses on foreign exchange loans. When
there is a material change in the expenses pre-calculated during the annual depreciation planning process,
the annual amount is re-calculated. A change is considered material if its impact on the reporting year’s
depreciation equals or exceeds 1% of the cost of an asset.

In accordance with the Company’s Accounting Policy, residual value is considered significant if it is
expected to exceed 10% of the asset’s original cost or HUF 1 million as a minimum. Residual value is
significant in any case where its expected amount exceeds HUF 20 million.

The cost of Concessions, licences and similar rights intellectual property, and tangible assets with an
individual purchase/production value under HUF 100,000 is accounted for in full as
amortisation/depreciation when put to use.

When purchasing intangible or tangible assets, if the invoice or appropriate receipt is not received until
commissioning, the difference between the cost determined from the available documents and the actual
value determined from the final receipts will be considered significant and thus necessitates the
correction of the preliminary cost if it exceeds 2% of the preliminary cost. There is a significant difference
in any case where it exceeds HUF 20 million.

With regard to the impairment of investments representing participating interests and debt instruments
and the reversal of such impairment loss, the difference between the book value and the market value is
significant if it exceeds 5% of the asset’s book value prior to the recognition/reversal of impairment loss
or HUF 1 million as a minimum, irrespective of whether they are held in non-current financial assets or
current assets. In any case, the difference is considered significant if it exceeds HUF 500 million.

The Company does not exercise the market value option under Section 57(3) of the accounting act and
does not recognise any adjustment.

1.5.3 Measurement of current assets

The cost of self-produced inventories is accounted for as the prime cost that has a demonstrably close
link to production and can be recognised for the product and/or asset on the basis of the relevant
indicators. Stock inventories and any changes to them are recognised at their weighted average prices
(clearing prices). The average price is calculated as the weighted average price for the opening reconciled
inventory of any purchases made of the item in the relevant month.
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With regard to rolling stock maintenance and repair needs, for inventories available at corporate level,
the consumption of which is uncertain (slow-moving inventories), impairment is determined on the basis
of consumption data for the previous 5 years, taking the expected turnover time into account, as one of
the following percentages: _

| Expected turnover time | Rate of impairment

Within 1 year 0%
Within 5 years 50%
Over 5 years 80%

The Company does not recognise impairment loss on reasonably non-moving inventories (emergency
stocks, first packed materials, strategic machine parts and tools). However, 95% impairment loss is
recognised on inventories explicitly deemed superfluous and recommended for scrapping at the end of
the year.

The amount of impairment loss on receivables (including trade and other receivables) to be recognised
and reversed is determined as follows:

* 100% impairment loss is recognised on all receivables from a debtor if the debtor is subject to winding-
up, voluntary liquidation, compulsory liquidation or bankruptcy proceedings.

* 100% impairment loss is recognised on all receivables otherwise acknowledged by a debtor if legal
action is brought due to non-payment.

Impairment loss is recognised on the basis of individual rating for all receivables from an inter-rail debtor.
If inter-rail receivables from an inter-rail debtor have a negative balance (inter-rail liability), the necessary
amount of impairment will still be determined on the basis of individual rating for trade and other
receivables from that debtor.

All other debtors are rated on the basis of average ageing. For this purpose, the weighted average of the
due dates of all amounts receivable from a debtor (average ageing) is determined for each debtor: the
debtor’s balance in each receivable category (not due, 1-30, 31-60, 61-90, 91-180, 181-365 days past due
and more than 366 days past due) is multiplied by the first day for each category (zero for not-due
receivables) and the result is then divided by the total amount of receivables.

Based on average ageing, one of the following impairment percentage is recognised for all receivables
from a debtor:

Average ageing | Rate of impairment
1-30 0%
31-60 10%
61-90 25%
91-180 50%
181-365 75%
366+ 100%

The amount of impairment loss recognised and reversed on receivables related parties is determined as
follows:

100% impairment loss is recognised on all receivables from a debtor subject to involuntary liquidation,
forced strike off or bankruptcy proceedings.

In any other cases, a debtor’s individual rating is the basis for determining the percentage of impairment
loss recognised and reversed on all our receivables from that debtor, except that no impairment loss will
be recognised on receivables from other MAV Group members.

Receivables from fare dodger reports presented among other receivables are fully impaired by MAV
START Zrt.

No impairment loss is recognised on receivables received before the balance sheet date.
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When the information and documents available at the balance sheet date allow us to determine the
expected recoverable amount of receivables more accurately than as described above, the amount of
impairment and reversal will be established in an individual basis.

The Company accounts for the reduction of foreign exchange and currency reserves using moving average
exchange rates.

.6 Important information on and changes in the Company’s
operations

There was no change in 2019 which would have had a fundamental impact on the Company’s operations.

.7 Obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements

Name of the consolidating entity:
MAV Magyar Allamvasutak Zartkor(ien M(ikodé Részvénytarsasag.
Registered seat of the consolidating entity:

1087 Budapest, Konyves Kalman krt. 54-60.

Pursuant to the accounting act, MAV-START Zrt. qualifies as a parent company. However, MAV Zrt., the
superordinate parent company, prepares and publishes consolidated financial statements and a
consolidated business report which include the financial statements of MAV-START Zrt. and its subsidiary.
Accordingly, with a view to Section 116(1) of the accounting act, MAV-START Zrt. does not prepare
consolidated financial statements or a consolidated business report.

The consolidated accounts of the MAV Group are available on the Company’s website at
www.mavcsoport.hu.
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II.1 Notes to the balance sheet

The Company prepares the type “A” balance sheet as provided for in Annex 1 to the accounting act.

The Company does not add lines to, omit items from, nor combine anything in the balance sheet template
specified in the Act.

The valuation methods applied to the individual balance sheet items are the same as used in the previous
financial year so no consequential P&L impact can be identified in the current period either.
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1I.1.1 Non-current assets

The annual balance of non-current assets for 2019 was HUF 288,713m, up by HUF 26,327m on the
previous year (a 10.03% increase).

Owing to the nature of our operations, rolling stocks represent 72.42% of our tangible assets, amounting
to HUF 108,171m at book value, which comprises railcars of HUF 108,171m, TRAXX locomotives of HUF
22,717m, traction vehicles of HUF 33,690m, passenger coaches of HUF 38,767m, cargo wagons of HUF
2m and other self-propelled rail machines of HUF 3m.

1.1.1.1 Changes in intangible assets

figures in HUF millions

Capitalsd Capitalsd Concessions Intellecutal Advances
ITEM found., and similar Goodwill | for capital Total
R&D . property .
restruct. rights projects
1. |Cost, opening 3 516 3123 8423 0 0 12 064
2. |Additions, improvements, advance 0 0 763 1335 0 443 2 541
| |payments
3. |Self-produced assets 0 0 0 551 0 0 551
4.__|Received free of charge 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5. __|Asset count surplus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6. |Assigned free of charge 0 0 0 0 0 (1] 0
7. _|Contribution in kind 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
& |Disposal [1] 0 0 0 0 0 0
9. |Scrapped 0 0 -571 -12 0 0 -583
10 [Missing 0 0 0 0 1] 0 0
11._|Destroyed 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
12, _|FX revaluation (advance) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13. |Reclassified (broken down, aggregated,
deducted advance payment)

0 0 2 0 0 2
14. |Cost, closing 3 516 3315 10 299 0 443 14575
15. |Amortisation, opening 3 450 2394 3065 0 0 5912
16. _|Ordinary charge for the year 0 60 381 1122 (1] 0 1569
17._|Prior year ordinary charge 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18, |Extraordinary charge for the year 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
19. |Reversed extraordinary amortisation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
20, |Assets received free of charge 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
21. |Asset count suplus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
22, |Assigned free of charge 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
23._|Contribution in kind 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
24._|Disposal 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
25. |Scrapped 0l [1] -571 -12 0 1] -583
26. |Missing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
27. |Destroyed 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
28. |Reclassified (broken down, aggregated) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
29. |Amortisation, closing 3 516 2204 4175 0 0 6 898
30. |NBYV, apening 0 66 729 5 358 0 0 6153
31. |NBYV, closing 0 0 111 6124 0 443 7678

Table 1: Changes in intangible assets in the reporting year

The net value of intangible assets grew by HUF 1,525m compared to the previous year as a result of assets
capitalised in a total of HUF 1,468m in 2019. The most significant assets commissioned include a HUF
516m increase in the JE application and the launch of the TBT software in 2019 totalling HUF 189m.

For intangible assets, amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets.
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.L1.1.2 Changes in tangible assets

figures in HUF millions

her
! ITEM Properties and Tecll:-nicnl qu;nfem, Breeding Cn!liml ? dvnn.cesl [ Total
related rights machinery, fittings, | stock . proj'ects, or cap ital | ol
| equipment vehicles improvements | projects

:l Cost, opening 3710 330873 120 0 10029 42781 387 513
|2. _|Acquisition, improvement, advances g 0 0 0 0 13456 7172 20628,
|3. _|Self-produced assets 0 0 0 0 20 444 [} 20 444
4. |Assets received ﬁ'ee of char_g_e 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
|5, |Asset count surlxlus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
16. Taken into asset management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
fz lncrease due to asset settlement 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
18. Assngned ﬁ'ee of char;,e 0 -25| 0 0 0 0| -25|
[9. |Contribution in kind 0 3061 | 0 0 0 0] 3061
[10._| Disposal 0 -135) 0 0 0 0} -135
1. Scrapped 0 -161 5 0 0 9 -166|
112" Missing 0 4] 0 0 0 0| 4
|13."|Destroyed 0 0| 0 0 0 0| 0
|14._[Commissioned 1471 24626 21 0 26116 0 2|
{15, |Resigned asset manager right 0 0 0 0 0 0| 0
116. |Decrease due to asset management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0/
|17. |FX revaluation (advance) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0/
|18, Reclassified (broken down, |

aggregated, deducted advance 0 -468 0 0 -2 0 -470]

___payment) — —

|19. [ Cost, , closing 5181 357767 136 0 17811 49953 | 430 848
|20. Dcprecuanon, 0penmg 680 130 727 118 0 8 [ 131533
(21 Ordinary charge for the year 213 18 949 19 0 0 o 18y
|22, |Prior year ordinary charge 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Extraordinary charge for the year 0 8 0 0} 5 0 13

Reversed extraordinary depreciation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
|25."[Assets received free of charge 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
126. | Asset count surplus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0!
27, |Assigned free of charge 0 -25 0 0 0 0 -25
28, _|Contribution in kind 0 0 0 0] 0 0 0
(29, Disposal 0 116 0 0 0 0 116
30._|Scrapped 0 -161 -5 0 0 0] -166|
31.|Missing 0 -3 1) 0 0 0l -_Lﬁ
132 Destroyed [0 0 0o 0 [ 0
|33._[Resigned asset mana_ger right 0 0 0 0 0 0| 0]
|34 | Decrease due to asset management | 0 0 0 0 0 0] 0f
35. |Reclassified (broken down, aggregated 0 -349) 0 0] 0| 0] -349)
|36. Dapreclanon clnsmg 893. 149029 131 0 13 0' 150 066'
137. |NBY, opening 3 030 200 146 2| [/ 10021 42 781 255 980
538. NBY, closing - 4 268'_ 208 738 5 [/ 1 7 798 49 953 280 782

Table 2: Changes in tangible assets in the reporting year

The net value of tangible assets grew by HUF 24,802m compared to the previous year.

The increase in the cost of tangible assets was due mostly to 15 IC+ cars commissioned in 2019 in a total
of HUF 7,173m, railcar overhaul (bogie replacements and major repairs) of HUF 5,667m, vehicles
contributed by MAV Zrt. totalling HUF 3,061m, and assets in the course of construction related to self-
produced IC+ cars totalling HUF 2,822m.

The decrease was due to extraordinary depreciation of HUF 19,181m.

Depreciation is charged on tangible assets (except for TRAXX locomotives) on a straight line basis over the
useful lives of the assets.

Most of the advances for capital projects relate to major subsidised vehicle acquisitions, including a HUF
1,898m advance for KISS double-decker trains.
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1.1.1.3 Movements in capital projects

figures in HUF millions

Capital projects in progress
Item
Prior year | Rep. Year Change
Opening 3972 10021 6049
Additions (+) 9353 13 456 4103
Self-produced (+) 14 519 20 444 5925
Commissioned (-) -17 815 -26 118 -8 303
Extraordinary deprec._(‘;) T8 -5 3
Extraordinary deprec. reversed(+) T o  [= = =wig)
Other increase (+) - ) 0]
Other decrease (-) T - 0
. Closing 10021 17798 7777

Table 3: Movements in capital projects

Capital projects totalled HUF 33,900m in 2019, of which 60,31% were self-produced assets in a total of
HUF 20,444m. IC+ cars are mass produced at the Company’s vehicle repairs site in Szolnok. Ten railcars
forinternational services (HUF 4,734m) and five multi-purpose railcars {(HUF 2,439m) were commissioned
in 2019. As part of the overhaul of CAF carriages, 8 were completed at HUF 2,187m, bogie replacements

totalled HUF 2,940m.

Of the HUF 13,456m asset acquisitions in 2019, the most significant items were the renovation of 17 DWA
cars at HUF 1,722m and the renovation of 21 IC 67 cars by subcontractors totalling HUF 1,642m. As part
of the EU funded high capacity multiple unit train project, the frames of 10 KISS cars totalling HUF 5,394m
were delivered in 2019. The first multiple unit train was licensed for trial passenger services. The full
operating licence is expected to be issued in Q3 2020. Another notable item was an automatic car wash
constructed in Nagykanizsa in April 2019 for HUF 423m to provide an effective, state-of-the-art and
environmentally friendly facility to wash railcars. Other tangible assets acquired totalled HUF 737m.

1.1.1.4 Impact of the recognition of depreciation in 2019

figures in HUF millions

Depreciation

ftem Ordinary Extraordi As ;?er As per corporate
nary accounting act tax act

Land - 0 0 -

Porperties (less land) 213 0 213 247
Machinery, equipment 18 949 8 18 957 29 482
Other machines, equipment 19 0 19 20
Capital projects 0 5 5 0
Tangibles, total 19 181 13 19 194 29 749
Foundation, restructuring 0 0 0 0
Research and development 66 0 66 66
Concessions and similar rights 381 0 381 381
Intellectural property 1122 0 1122 1089
Goodwill o 0 0 0
Intangibles, total 1569 0 1569 1536
Grand total: 20 750 13 20763 31285

Table 4: Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets in the reporting year
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The amortisation/depreciation rates for tangible/intangible assets were established on the basis of the
identified useful life and are typically lower than the amortisation/depreciation rates set in corporate
income tax act. For the Company’s tangible assets, the straight-line write-off method is used in any case,
except for TRAXX locomotives.

The amount of recognised ordinary depreciation increased by HUF 761m compared to the previous year.

I1.1.1.5 Assefs fransferred/received free of charge

In 2019, the Company granted 1,173 mobile phones to its employees free of charge. These assets are
carried at a book value of HUF 0.

The Company did not receive any assets free of charge in 2019.

1.1.1.6 Long-term investments
The table below shows the movements MAV-START Zrt's long-term equity investments:

figures in HUF millions

Investments, NBV

Item : ‘
| Opening | Increase Decrease | Closing
{Related parties 252 0 0 252
[Material equity investments 0 0 0 0
|Other investments 1 0 0 1]
|Total: 253 0 0 253

Table 5: Equity investments per category

Long-term participating interests of MAV-START Zrt. are described in Section I11.6.

1.11.1.7 Impairment of non-current financial assets

The Company did not recognise any impairment loss on its non-current financial assets shown in its
accounts in 2019.

11.1.1.8 Subordinated assets

The Company does not have any subordinated assets on its books.
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I.L1.2 Cumrent assets

The annual balance of current assets for 2019 was HUF 81,789m, up by HUF 4,192m compared to the
previous year (a 5.4% increase).

I.L1.2.1 Movements in inventories

figures in HUF millions

L Materials ;‘;:::e‘s: Livestock I::)‘:::: Goods ‘::“::::; I;osr Total
|1, |Inventories, opening 18 721 2124 0 1361 12 2 435 24 653
2. |Acquisition. advances paid 31630 0 0 0 2951 0 34581
f}. “[Received free of charged T o] o) ol o 0| 0 o
|4.  |Contribution in kind received 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
5. |Reclassified 118 0 0 0 0 0 113
6. {Recorded as inventory 0 6403 0 14293 0 0 20696
‘7. |Surplus 0 0 0 0 0 0 [
8. [Otherincrease T G o) 0 o o s 107
:9. Used (expensed) -28 038 -4 904 ) -13 750 -8 0 -46 700
|10. |Reclassified, advance deducted 0 0 0 0 0 -857 -857
;ll. Disposal -160 0 0 0 -2937 0 -3 097
|12 |Assigned free of charge o o of ol 0 ol ol o]
|13.” [Contribution in kind of o I 0 0 o el
|14. |Scrapped -81 -3 0 -1 -4 0 -89
(15, [Missing . ' Il ol o of 0 0! 0
|16 |Other decrease L | o[ T Y I 0 319
:17. Inventories, closing 21947 3620 0 1894 14 1618 29 093
|18. |Impairment, opening 703 0 [ 34 0 0 737
E20. Impairment in the reporting year 173 0 0 3 0 0 176
|21, | Written off due to decrease -264 0 0 -9 0 0 =273
|22, [Reversed impairment loss -30 0 0 0 0 0 -30
%23. Impairment, closing 582 [ 0 28 0 [ 610
|24. |NBVY, opening 18018 2124 [ 1327 12 2435 23 916
125, |NBYV, closing 21 365 3620 0 1866 14 1618 28 483

Table 6: Inventories
The closing value of inventories grew by HUF 4,567m compared to 2018.

Warehouse materials increased by HUF 3,347m compared to 2018, of which inventories related to key
projects (IC+) increased by HUF 1,506m and basic warehouse materials related to other maintenance
increased by HUF 1,375m. Basic warehouse inventories increased the most {by HUF 860m) at the Szolnok
vehicle repair site. Other significant inventory increases included wheel rims, final drive parts, rotary
machine parts, bogie parts and door parts.

The HUF 1,496m increase in work in progress was due mostly to an increase in materials used for the IC+
project.

Advance payments on inventories include the advance paid to Siemens Zrt. and Knorr-Bremse Gmbh for
bogies, brakes and braking system purchases as part of the IC+ project.
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I.L1.2.2 Receivables
I.1.2.2.1 Receivables and impairment loss
figures in HUF millions
Receivables, gross ‘l'mga‘ii'n':éliToss '

Netbook | Net book

Trem Not |Dueover!| 91-180 | 181365 | *°F Impairme Reverse e Other ol LT Change
overdue | 90 days days days e Total | Opening nt loss d impaired write-olls Closing
y days | receivable 2019 2018

hsis g | e et = = e = — : = — = —
Toude eciables (dbory) | 4551 T04] 710wl gle| s & ol 6| el & seil iws| _am
Rtig_igl { party r_zgsirg_b:l_z.\- 1125 100 23 [ [ 1253 0 12 [ 0 [ 12 1241 796 445 |
(of which: from parent
company 660 9 2 [ [ 669 [ 0 0 0 [ 0 669 282 387
{of which: from fully
\consolidated subsidiary 459 6 [ 0 0 465 [ [ [} 0 0 [ 465 460 3
‘of which: from non-fully
consolidated subsidiaries [ 85 28 [/ [ 19| 0 12 [ [ [ 12 107 54 53
From significant related |
parties 188 1 [ 0 0 189 [ 0 [ 0 0 0 189 185 4
From -:}_lher investments 747 0 0 0 [ ’.;7!} 0_ 0 0 b: [ 0 27 18| 7|
Bills of exchunge S N S ) ) S ) N I A S S MM B
Other recivables LR I 4 S N ) 1 N Y 1 S .1 - 2.
Receivables, total: 49628 252 61| 16,  609| 50566 651 66 I 30 3 683 49883 51844 -1961

Table 7: Receivables and impairment loss

The closing balance of receivables dropped by HUF 1,961m compared to 2018.

Reclaimed value-added tax from other receivables totalled HUF 3,695m. Receivables related to social
fare subsidy totalled HUF 1,097m, public service cost reimbursement receivables HUF 37,615m,
receivable health insurance and family benefits of HUF 161m, and reclaimed excise tax related to rail
transport operations totalled HUF 626m.

Other receivables due over 365 days totalled HUF 565m and reflect receivables from post-payable fares
carried in the Company’s books.

In 2019, 100% impairment loss was recognised on receivables from penalised passengers for travelling
without a ticket; the accumulated impairment loss totalled HUF 598m.

I1.1.2.2.2 Related party receivables

The closing balance of receivables from related parties of MAV-START Zrt. was as follows in 2019:

figures in HUF millions

Parent | Fully consolidated Non-fully
hem compan subsidiari datal
pany ! i subsidiaries
Advances for intangible assets | 0 0 0 0
| Advances for capital projects 0 0 0
Long-term loans to related parties 0 0 0
Advances for inventories 0 0 0 0
Related party debtors 669 465 107 1241
Total: 669 465 107 1241

Table 8: Related party receivables

20/75 MAV-START Zrt. Notes to the financial statements for 2019



%}FM!’IU-STHHT MAV-START Railway Passenger Transport Company

Related party receivables totalled HUF 1,241m, of which HUF 669m was receivable from MAV Zrt.

Of the receivables from fully consolidated subsidiaries, HUF 371m was from MAV VAGON Kft., of which
HUF 365m were cash pool receivables (loans granted). Receivables from other fully consolidated
subsidiaries include HUF 44m from MAV Szolgaltaté Kézpont Zrt., HUF 40m from MAV FKG Kft., and HUF
9m from MAV-HEV Zrt.

HUF 107m was receivable from a non-fully consolidated subsidiary, MAV NOSZTALGIA Kft.

The classification of related parties is based on the Group categories defined from the perspective of the
superordinate parent company (MAV Zrt.).

1.1.2.2.3 Reclassification of receivables and liabilities in the balance sheet

The following items have been reclassified in the balance sheet:

HUF 4m of trade receivables were reclassified as other current liabilities.

Of other current liabilities, employer’s contributions to funds totalling 14m and HUF 3,695m of
recoverable VAT were reclassified to other receivables.

Of taxes and similar charges, HUF 62m was reclassified from other current liabilities to other
receivables.

Instalments of long-term loans totalling HUF 3,144m due in 2020 were reclassified to short-term
loans.

Short-term loans include overdrafts drawn totalling HUF 10,539m.

11.L1.2.3 Securities

The Company does not have any securities on its books.

1.11.2.3.1 Impairment of securities

No impairment loss on securities is recorded in the Company’s books.
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1.1.3 Prepaid expenses & accrued income

Of the settlements with international railway companies in the reporting year, prepayments related to
leased RIC railcars and unsettled traffic dropped by HUF 2645m.

Item

Accrued income
{RIC car rent
{Unsettled tumover
{Unbilled revenues
{Revenues relating to the next period
|Late payment penalty, penalties and damages related to the reporting year
iUnrealised foreign exchange Ig‘ain or loss on accrued income
{Accrued income, total:
- ] Prepaid expenses
[Pre-billed costs ' ]
{Unbilled costs (credited)
Qj’re‘p;lid expenses, total: o
! Deferred expenses
(Unrealised FX loss on EUR 41,437,500 KW Bank loan_ -
:Unrwlised FX loss on EUR 38,250,000 EIB Bank loan
Ebeferred expenses, total:
{Total:

Prior year

1503
28

430]

855
1285

540

499|
1039]

4358

Table 9: Prepaid expenses & accrued income

The HUF 437m increase in pre-invoiced costs was due to prepaid rents.

The HUF 530m drop in credited unbilled costs was due mainly to retrospective changes in the settlement

of services.

figures in HUF millions

Reporting
year

886

336
2

42

1285
867
325

1192

555

513
1068/
3545

Change

617
28
-105
l[j
-8
21
-749)]

437
'5.30:
-93|
15

14
29|
813

22(75
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I1.1.4 Equity

i1.1.4.1 Movements in equity

figures in HUF millions

Issued Issued Undistribu

Ttem : capital not Capital Reta.med table Net profit Equity

capital . reserve | earnings after tax

aid reserves

Opening balance 43 742 0 67 633 8033 584 6779| 126771
Capital injection 1258 0 3668 4926
Pnol:year profit reclassified to retained 0 0 0 6779 0 6779 0
eamings
Rcleas.ed non-distributable reserve for 0 0 0 60 60 0 0
unrealised FX loss
Released non-distributable reserve for R&D 0 0 0 66 -66 0 0
Undlstn?)utable reserv.e released due to 0 0 0 0 0 3152 2152
foundation, restructurin
Net profit for the year -1000 -1000
Dividends paid 45 000 [/ 71301 13938 458 2152 132849

Table 10: Movements in equity
1.1.4.2 Issued share capital

Changes in the Company’s issued capital in 2019 were as follows:

e a share premium based capital injection of HUF 1,865,000,000 further to resolution No.
32/280/2018, registered on 10 January 2019;

a non-cash contribution share premium increase of HUF 3,060,670,000 further to resolution No.
A 25/280/2019, registered on 5 September 2019.

As a result of the above, the issued capital increased to HUF 45,000,000,000.

The Company’s issued share capital comprises 100 registered ordinary shares with a face value of HUF
100,000,000 each and 35,000,000 registered ordinary shares with a face value of HUF 1,000 each.

MAV-START Zrt. has no convertible or equity bonds.
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11.L1.4.3 Non-distributable reserves

figures in HUF millions

Release |Creation in|

Non-distributable reserves Opening | incurrent | current | Closing
Jear, year

Difference between the provision made for unrealised FX loss 518 60 0 458
on FX loans and deferred expenses

KFW 269 31 0 238

EIB 249 29 0 220

_'R&D related to BMPZ type IC+ cars, not written off 66 66 0 | 0

Total: 584 126 0 458

Table 11: Details of non-distributable reserves

11.1.5 Provisions

The provisioning principles applied by the Company are specified in the Company’s accounting policies.
The principles applied for the key categories are summarised in the table below:

Category

Provision is made

Liabilities related to
redundancies

For the total amount of the payment commitments included
in signed contracts for the subsequent years

Bonus earned for the
reporting year but not yet
approved

In the amount of the bonus and its taxes and contributions

Contingent liabilities in
lawsuits in progress (also
including interest and
other incidental
expenses)

When the payment liability is likely to occur and will exceed
HUF 3m

Default interest

Based on the default interest calculation performed for the
unbilled period prior to the balance sheet reporting date
pursuant to the Civil Code

For expected expenses —
in the case of demolition
and maintenance
expenses

When the expected expense is significant, based on an
individual valuation.

In the case of periodically
repeated maintenance
expenses of TRAXX
locomotives and FLIRT
multiple unit trains

The funding of the periodic maintenance expenses is defined
with the following formula:

Provisions recognised  Period of the maintenance period

for periodic by the reporting date / runkm Es'tlmated
. = . . maintenance
maintenance expenses Length of the maintenance period
expenses

in the balance sheet {time / km)
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I.1.5.1 Provisions for expected liabilities

figures in HUF millions

Provisions for expected liabilities ~ Opening Released Made [ Closing |
for redundancy costs 289 289 303 303
for environmental obligations 631 293 97 435
for litigations 271 150 120 241
for damages . - 696 - 444 L 111 363
for uniform costs o 16 16 76 76
for bonus payment (related to 2018) 185 185 0 0
for bonus payment (related t0 2019) 0 0 175 175
for EU irregularities ] 0 0 3 3
for other litigated liabilities 59 59 22 22
Total: 2147 1436 907“_ - I_6I_¢L

Table 12: Provisions for expected liabilities

HUF 289m provision was made in 2018 for employment-related liabilities and severance pays incurred
in relation to rationalisation. This amount was fully released in 2019 partly on account of use and
partly due to losing relevance. Provisions made in 2019 included HUF 303m for employment related
costs expected to incur in the budget period of 2020-22 based on the updated staff numbers.

As the amount of bonus for the reporting year had not been approved by the relevant approving body
by the date when the Company’s financial statements as a whole were approved, a provision of HUF
175m was made for bonuses payable plus related taxes and charges based on a preliminary
calculation. At the same time, the HUF 185m provision made for bonuses in 2019 was fully released.

Of the provision made in 2018 for uniform costs, HUF 444m was released and another HUF 111m was
made for still outstanding uniform needs.

1.1.5.2 Provisions for liabilities to related parties

figures in HUF millions

. Liabilities to related parties Opening Released Made Closin
MAYV Szolgéltaté Kézpont Zrt. 0 0 5 5
MAV Zrt. 15 15 69 69
MAYV Vagon Kf. 0 0 1 1
Total: 15 15 75 75

Table 13: Provisions for liabilities to related parties

The provisions made for liabilities to related parties include default interest payment liability. The figures
were extracted from Table 12.

1.1.5.3 Provisions for future expenses

figures in HUF millions

Provisions for future expenses T Opening Released Made Closing
TRAXX locomotive maintenance 1356 0 241 1597
FLIRT train maintenance 2276 0 677 2953
Total: 3632 0 918 4550

Table 14: Provisions for future expenses
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A provision of HUF 241m was made for the periodical longer than annual maintenance costs of the TRAXX
locomotives from the profit or loss for 2019. As there were no maintenance works in 2019, no related
provision was released.

Since 2014, the Company has also recognised provisions for the maintenance costs of FLIRT multiple unit
trains (HUF 677m was made in 2019).

1.1.5.4 Other provisions
11.L1.5.4.1 Provisions for foreign exchange losses

figures in HUF millions

! Loan Opening Released Made Closing

|KfW Bank loan (41.437.500 EUR) TRAXX 271 0 46 317':
|EIB bank loan (38.250.000 EUR) TRAXX 250 0 43 293_1
|Total: 520 0 89 610

Table 15: Provision for foreign exchange loss

1.11.5.4.2 Other statutory provisions

No other statutory provision was made by MAV-START Zrt. based on other laws and regulations.

1.1.5.5 Movements in provisions in the reporting year

figures in HUF millions

Item F or en‘qfe.cted For future Ot.hfar Total
: | liabilities |___expenses | provisions | ]
|Provisions, opening __ 2147| 3632 520 6299
Released _ 1436| 0] 0| 1436
Made B | V- 907| 918, 89| 1914
\Provisions, closing 1618] 4550 610 6 778|

Table 16: Movements in provisions
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Liabilities

11.L1.5.6 Subordinated liabilities

The Company does not carry any subordinated liability in its books.

1.1.5.7 Long-term liabilities

Long-term liabilities totalled HUF 14,062 at 31 December 2019 and included development and
improvement loans of HUF 8,584m, and other long-term loans of HUF 5,478m.

1.11.5.7.1 Long-term loans

Most of MAV-START Zrt’s loans are ,KFW, EIB TRAXX loans” and MKB refinancing loans taken out to repay
the Eurofima loan which was bullet paid on 13 December 2018.

The long-term loans of our Company are presented in the table below:

Date of Government | Fufi!ity Outstanding at 31 Dec 2019 |

Loan Matures on guarantee (original |
agreement i L. cy !

l (decision No.) currency) EUR HUFm |

{

Project and development loans |

KFW (TRAXX) 2009.12.03 | 2024.05.15 - EUR 41437 500 14 917 500 4931}

EIB (TRAXX) 2009.12.03 | 2024.05.15 - EUR 38 250 000 13 770 000 4551
MFB* 2009.10.27 | 2024.09.30 - HUF 2 800 000 000 - 938|
UniCredit - MFB hitel 2008.09.10 | 2023.12.31 - HUF 2376 000 000 - 623
Total: 28 687 500 11043

Other loans

MKB | 2018.12.13 | 2028.12.12 | 5 | HUF | 6847623010/ - 6 163
Total: 0 6163
|Grand total: 28 687 500 17 206

*The table reflects the actually drawn amount. The contractual amount is HUF 3,464m.

Table 17: Long-term loans

Of the outstanding loans, instalments totalling HUF 3,144m due in 2020 are presented in the balance
sheet among short-term loans. Foreign exchange loans were converted at a 330.52 HUF/EUR exchange
rate (published by the MNB on the reporting date).

Only the remaining term of the MKB loan exceeds five years as the loan agreement expires on 12
December 2028. The balance of this loan was HUF 6,163m at 31 December 2019.
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figures in HUF millions

Loan 2020, 2021 2022, 2023, 20Mamd o

. _ _ beyond
. Project and development loans ‘
Kfw 1096/ 109 1096 1096 548] 4931
[EIB 1011 1011 1011 1011 506) 4551
‘MFB 196 196 196 196 154 938
UniCredit 156 156 156 155 0 623
Total: 2459 2459 2459 2458 1208 11043
Other loans
[MKB 685 685 685 685 3423 6163
\Total: 685 685 685 685 3423 6163
|Grand total: 3144 3144 3144] 3143|4631 17206

Table 18: Long-term loans repayment schedule

MAV-START Zrt. repays its long-term loans according to the underlying agreements. Contractual debt
service of these loans is a top priority for both the Company and MAV Group.

The Company’s long-term foreign exchange liabilities constitute EIB and KFW loans for the acquisition of
TRAXX locomotives.

The Company used the option allowed in section 33(2) of the accounting act and carried forward the
unrealised losses of HUF 1,068m on the year-end revaluation of foreign exchange loans and presented
among deferred expenses in the balance sheet as shown below.

figures in HUF millions

5 ~ Of which current o " Accrued/deferred FX |
: Foreign exchange (FX)  Amount in FX part in FX FX rate Liability (HUF) | Of which currcnt goin oI at yese-end
EUR 28 687500 6375 000 330,52 9482 2107 1 068|
Total: 9482 | 1068

Table 19: Long-term liabilities in foreign exchange

1.11.5.7.2 Long-term borrowings and bonds payable

The Company does not carry any long-term borrowings or bonds payable in its books.

.1.5.7.3 Other long-term liabilities

All other long-term liabilities were repaid in 2019. The VBKJ housing aid liability changed as a result of
amendments in the underlying legislation.

figures in HUF millions

) ~ Item 2018 2019 Change
Fringe benefits system, housing aid liability 37 0 -37
Caution money received 3 0 -3
Other long-term liabilities, total: 40 0 -40

Table 20: Other long-term liabilities
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1.L1.5.8 Current liabilities

Current liabilities totalled HUF 112,579m at the reporting date. Current liabilities make up 30.1% of the
balance sheet total and 88.9% of all liabilities. Current liabilities increased by 26.16% on the previous year,
predominantly as a result of increases in liabilities to related parties, in other current liabilities and in
short-term loans.

Short-term loans totalled HUF 19,737m at the balance sheet date {(a HUF 8,098m increase on the previous
year) as a result of an increase in overdrafts from HUF 8,553m to HUF 16,593 m.

Creditors totalled HUF 10,103m and included domestic creditors of HUF 5,524m and export creditors of
HUF 3,186m. Current liabilities to related parties totalled HUF 26,633m, a HUF 7,820 increase on the
previous year. HUF 21,006m payable to the parent company (trade payables) was another material item.
Other current liabilities totalled HUF 54,574m (a 17.08% increase on 2018) mostly as a result of an increase
in the liabilities related to subsidised vehicle acquisition projects.

I.1.5.8.1 Short-term loans

Short-term loans included overdrafts of HUF 16,593m and the reclassified current part of long-term loans
totalling HUF 3,144m.

.1.5.8.2 Other cument liabilities

The amount presented in the other current liabilities balance sheet line contains the items presented in
the table below:

figures in HUF millions

[ fem 208 [ 2019 | Change |
(Taxespayable S S ) ) B |
|Wages - 3811 4144] 333
%@mglgxerﬁlcontribgtigns tofunds ) 10} 10] 0
{Membership fees deducted from employees 127 136 9
iLiabilities related to subsidy settlement ! 42 292! 49 845| 7553
(Other current labiliies R N 7 A !
|Other current liabilities, total | 46613| 54574 ' 7961

1

Table 21: Other current liabilities
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.1.5.9 Lliabilities to related parties

figures in HUF millions

Fully
Item Sanent consolidated thn-fully Total
company o consolidated sub.
subsidiaries
Subordinated liabilities to related parties 0 0 0 0
Long-term liabilities to related parties 0 0 0 0
Current liabilities to related parties 21 006 5611 16 26 633
Total: 21 006 5611 16 26 633

Table 22: Liabilities to related parties

Amounts payable to the parent company included track usage charges of HUF 13,664m, traction electricity
of HUF 5,511m, rents of HUF 1,138m and vehicle maintenance of HUF 420m.

The most material liabilities towards fully consolidated subsidiaries included HUF 2,815m to MAV
Szolgéltaté Kozpont Zrt., HUF 1,1017m to MAV-HEV Zrt., HUF 889m to MAV VAGON Kft. and HUF 820m
to MAV KFV Kft.

The classification of related parties is based on the Group categories defined from the perspective of the
superordinate parent company (MAV Zrt.).

30/75 MAV-START Zrt. Notes to the financial statements for 2019



ﬂl"m MAV-START Railway Passenger Transport Company

II.L1.6 Accrued expenses and deferred income

figures in HUF millions

Item 2018 2019 Change
Deferred income
Pre-billed revenues 180 146 -34
Unbilled revenues (credited) 131 110 -21
Deferred income, total: 311 256 -55
Accrued expenses
Unbilled costs 3034 3634 600
Invoices booked for the next period 0 16 16
RIC car rent 1176 7935 -381
Unbilled turnover 3 0 3
Interest (other than late payment penalty) due for the period 43 35 -8
Late payment penalty and other penalties paid for 2019 0 7 7
Performance initiative - payroll ] 59 ) 65 6
Performance initiative - taxes 12 12 0
Accrued expenses, total: 4327 4 564 237
Deferred extraordinary income
Surplus non-current assets 17 15 -2
Government grants received 5 4 -1
KOZOP-42 MV subsidy 63232 60 844 -2 388
GOP subsidies 190 164 -26
KOZOP-INKA subsidies 363 211 -152
KOZOP-6 MV subsidies 9734 9373 -361
KOZOP-JKA subsidies 275 172 -103
KOZOP-JE subsidies 341 136 -205
KDOP subsidies 4 3 -1
KOZOP-UTAS subsidies i1 0 -11
IKOP-6+9 MV subsidies 25173 24290 -883
CEF project Flirt ETCS 59 1 064 1064 0
IKOP 39 NAGYKAP 8 db MV 0 6 009 6 009
INKA2 0 643 643
Tram-train 0 31 31
Deferred extraordinary income, total: 100 409 102 959 2 550
Total: 105 047 107 779 2732

Table 23: Accrued expenses and deferred income

Unbilled costs increased mostly as a result of the retrospective settlement of services.

The change in deferred extraordinary income was due partly to the release of deferrals related to already
existing subsidies in line with the depreciation of the subsidised assets and the settlement of subsidies
received for a launched new project.
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I.1.7 Disclosures relafing to off-balance sheet items

1.1.7.1 Draw down and repayment schedule of loans not disbursed by the reporting date

The Company did not enter into any loan agreement in 2019 which was actually disbursed in 2020.

11.L1.7.2 Derivative contracts

Most of the Company’s revenues were earned in HUF in 2019.

In 2019, expenses incurred in foreign exchange totalled EUR 64.95m (EUR 7.31m contractual debt service
of a foreign exchange loan and EUR 56.64m creditors), for EUR 44.28m of which the opening EUR balance
and EUR revenues during the year did not provide sufficient funds.

I.1.7.2.1 Futures, swaps and options in 2019

In order to make up for foreign exchange shortages, spot contracts of EUR 34.93m and future contracts
of EUR 9.35m were made. None of these contracts stretched into 2020.

No commodity hedging contract was signed in 2019 to mitigate the risks of increased fuel costs as a result
of higher gasoline prices.

No hedging contract was signed in 2019 to cover the risks of interest rate fluctuations.

111.7.3 Joint and several guarantees and guarantee agreements

The Company did not have any joint and several guarantee agreement at the reporting date. The existing
guarantee agreements are presented below:

figures in HUF millions

Contracting

Beneficiary Guarantee type bank

Start date End date Amount

[ ] Bank guarantees
Jﬁ‘mls‘iry'for Innovation and Technology based

{on government decree 271/2007. (X.19.) payment guarantee |KDB Bank Zrt. | 2014.01.01 | 2020.12.31 1 100
[Ministry Tor Innovafion and Technology based

;on government decree 6/2010. (1.21.) payment guarantee |KDB Bank Zrt. | 2013.01.01 | 2020.12.31 150
;Wﬁﬁls’fry'fo? Tnnovation and Technology based ] l
|on government decree 6/2010. (1.21.) payment guarantee |KDB Bank Zrt. | 2013.01.01 | 2020.12.31 51
;Miiiisfry Tor Innovation and Technology based ‘

.:on government decree 271/2007. (X 1 9) payment guarantee :KDB Bank Zrt. 2011.07.01 2020.12.31 ]0‘
[Ministry Tor Innovation and Technology based

lon government decree 213/1996. (X11.23) payment guarantee |KDB Bank Zrt. | 2010.10.26 | 2021.06.30 7.5

|Ministry for Innovation and Technology based Raiffeisen Bank

lon govemnment decree 24/2016. (VL. 18.) payment guarantee Zet. 2018.06.30 | 2020.06.30 1000
|\Bank guarantees, total: 2272,5

Table 24: Guarantee agreements existing at the reporting date
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11.1.7.4 Llien liabilities

MAV-START Zrt’s lien liabilities are as follows:

figures in HUF millions

Loans secured

Loan 'with lien at 31 Dec Security
| 2019
EB@TRAXX) 4551  Rolingstock
KW (TRAXX) 4931 Rolling stock
UniCredit T 623 Rolling stock
MFB 938 Rolling stock
MKB | 6163 Rolling stock

[_Total: - N 17 206

Table 25: Lien liabilities

The EIB and KFW loans relating to the purchase of 25 TRAXX locomotives are secured with liens on the
TRAXX locomotives. The new MKB refinancing loan is secured by lien on 20 IC+ cars.

1.11.7.5 Expected environmental and reconstruction liabilities not presented among
liabilities

The Company did not incur any off-balance sheet liability related to environment protection.

111.7.6 Payment schedule of off-balance sheet interest and incidental expenses

figures in HUF millions

- 2024.
Loan 2020. 2021. 2022. 2023. and Total
beyond
Project and development loans
EIB 42 30 20 11 2 105
Kfw 165 121 82 43 7 418
UniCredit 13 10 6 2 0 31
MFB 34 26 19 11 3 93
Total: 254 187 127 67 12 647
Other loans
MKB 54 48 42 36 82 262
Total: 54 48 42 36 82 262
Grand total: 308 235 169 103 94 909

Table 26: Payment schedule of off-balance sheet interest and incidental expenses

Interest payments were calculated according to the assumptions included in the business plan.
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I.1.7.7 Operating leases where the Company is a lessee existing at the reporting date

figures in HUF millions

i | Amount

| .

Contractor (lessor) I Subject matter Date of Matures on |(HUFm/month Outstanding

| agreement ) at the BS date

%Deutsche Leasing Hungaria

}Kt}, {8 Desiro trains 2008.09.24|  2029.02.28 20 2200}
;MAV Zrt. |Office 2009.10.27| indefinite 24 n/a|
: - d
|
| ERai] vehicles (rolling |
IMAV Zrt. |stock) 2007.06.20| indefinite 524 n/a|
;Mercari_qg Flottake_zc_alé Kﬂ IQ?I‘ fleet 2017.07.19 2(_)21.07. 19 22’ 418|
Total: _ 590 2618)

Table 27: Operating leases at the reporting date

1.11.7.8 Ofther disclosures relating to off-balance sheet items

In 2019, the Company did not have any disclosures relating to off-balance sheet items other than the
figures presented in the separate tables.
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.2 Notes to the profit and loss account

The Company prepares its profit and loss account with the total cost method as described in annex 2 of
the accounting act.

The Company does not add lines to or omit items from nor merges items in the profit and loss account
template specified in the act.

As the measurement methods applied to the individual balance sheet items are the same as used in the
previous financial year, no consequential P&L impact is identifiable in the reporting year.

.2.1 Net salesrevenues

1.2.1.1 Net sales revenues by activity

figures in HUF millions

[ T8 2019
I Activity 1 Change
[ Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
[Public passenger transport service revenues | BT 7 I 7Y T 7 7 1172
l,f’_f)"l‘i?ll _Fares and seats 1 50203) 5007 S15151 5 1312]
_ Faresubsidy 1 175301 1748] 16958 98| =572
[ Oher ! 37071 _370) 41391 4] 432
|Non-public passenger transport service revenues | 7338 132 7900 91| 562/
| of which _Fares and seats i 3 110] 3.10 3070| 071 -40
T Faesbsdy | 320 032 284 28 36
Cars used for intenational trasnport | 1233 1.23] 1477 48 244
Sieepers and buffet car services 1013 1ol 12221 22 209
. Other _ _1 662 L L66L 1 847) 185,
Otheractivities | 21490 2143 19345 | 2145
_of which _P: and freight train traction* | 8 906/ 8,88| 7213 22 -1693|
Other traction | _234] 0.23 247 0.25] 13
_Shunting | 3709] 3700 Ay 336|356
_Traction services 4640, 4.63 4292 4.30] -348)
_Engineering _ 3493 348 3755 3.76| 262
_Materials and goods sold — 366 037} 369 037 3
_ Other o 1 __ 142 L2 C) S | 012 -26
Total: k100268  10000] 99857 10000} 411

Table 28: Net sales revenues by activity

Revenues from public service passenger transport increased by HUF 1,172m, primarily as a result of
increased revenues from public service international fares. This was due to increased capacity (i.e. more
trains running) and the resulting increase in the number of passengers, and also to an increase in specific
revenues as a result of our restructured offers. While there was an increase in full fare ticket revenues,
subsidised fares were cut and the related subsidies were reduced accordingly.

Revenues from non-public service passenger transport increased by HUF 562m as a result of higher
mileage charges and increased revenues from sleeper car, couchette and dining car services. As more
international trains operate sleepers, couchettes and dining cars, and as the Metropol service is back in
Berlin, the number of carriages in the train increased. Higher foreign exchanges also increased revenues.

Revenues from other activities fell by HUF 2,145m on 2018 due to a decline in orders from Rail Cargo
Hungaria Zrt. and from private railways for shunting and client controlled services and for servicing
activities. There was also a reduction in demand for shunting services for both private sector partners and
to MAV Zrt. The decline in revenues was somewhat offset by foreign exchange increases and higher
gasoline prices which were reflected in service prices and in the fuel-mix forwarding charge.
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1.2.1.2 Export revenues and imports

figures in HUF millions

2018 2019
Country Exporte| Exported| Export |Importe| Imported | Import | Exporte| Exported | Export |Imported| Imported | Import
d goods | _services I total |d goodsl services total d poods | _services total l goods | services l total
EU countries
Gennany 0 1592 1592 385 533 918 0 1 691 1691 348 481 829
Austria 0 6189 6189 1273 3557 4830 1] 7556 7556 1918 4395 6313
Ttaly 0 13 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5
Slovakia 0 1033 1033 533 239 772 0 909 909 702 399 1101
Czech Republi 0 1061 1061 18 36 547 0 1151 1151 27 54 81
Slovenia 0 135 135 0 4 4 0 136; 136 0 9 9
Poland 0 252 252 892 32 924 0 306 306 1189 17 1 206
France 0 368 368 0 36 36 0 362 362 0 37 37
UK 0 26 26 1 0 1 0 20 20 0 2 2
Swed, 0 163 163 (] 15 L] 0 12y 12 0 16 16
Belgium 0 7 7 0 1230 1230 0 6 6 o 139 139
Denmark 1] 1 1 5 3 8 0 1 | 0 0 0
Finland 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Greece ] 0 . 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Holland 0 614 614 4 91 95 0 965 965 7 124 131
Ireland 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Latvia 0 0 0 0 [} 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lithuania 0 0 0 0 (1] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1 bourg 0 ] 1 0 0 0 0 1 ! 0 1] 1]
Portugal 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spain 0 1 | 0 7 7 0 0] 0 160 0 160
Romania 0 1 251 1251 0 398 398 0 1752 1752 0 464 464
Croatia 0 214 214 0) 3] 11 0 182 182 0 13 13
Bulgaria 0 -7 -7 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0
EU countries, total 0| 12914 12914 3111 6192 9303 0 15 151 15151 4351 6155 10 506
Non-EU countries

Serbia 0 254 254] Ql 11 11 0 151 151 0 5 5
Montenegro 0 0 0 0| 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ukraine 0 104 104 _Ol 10 10 0 198 198 0 19 19
Switzerland 0 1080 1080 13 105 118 0 894 894 1085 6484 7 569
Turkey 0 0 0 0 [1] 0 0 10 10 0 0 0
Bel i 0 0 0 93— ] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Bosnia-Herzegovina 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 4 4
Macedonia 0 0 0 o o ol o 0 0 0 0 0
Russia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Norway 0 0 o 0 0 o] 0 0 0 0 0 0
Moldavia 0 0 0] 0 0 0 0 0 o 0 0 0
Egypt 1) 0 0 0 0 0 (4] o o 0 0 0
Turk 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Uzbekistan 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Albania 0 0 0 1] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Kazakhstan 0 0 0 1] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Canada [1] 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Australia 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Non-EU countries 0 1438 1438 13 130 143 ] 1253 1253 1085 6512 7597
Total: 0 14352 14352 3124 6322 9446 0 16 404 16 404 5436 12 667 18 103

Table 29: Exports and imports

As in 2018, the exports and imports of rail passenger transportation related primarily to the EU Member
States. Of the EU Member States, significant traffic is generated with Germany, Austria, Czech Republic,
Slovakia and Romania, where the settlement is based on the use of the rail passenger cars. The key non-
EU countries where services are exported to and imported from are Switzerland, Ukraine and Serbia.

Our largest foreign suppliers are from Switzerland, Austria, Poland, Germany and Slovakia.
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1.2.2 Capitalised own performance

figures in HUF millions

Activity 2018 2019
Change in work in progress 148 1 496
Change in finished products 78 539
Changes in self-produced inventories - _L 226 2035

Table 30: Change in self-produced inventories

figures in HUF millions

Activity 2018 2019
Change i_n_'s_t_e-l-fh-produced inventories | 226 2035
Capitalised self-produced assets 15096 21002
Capitalised own output . 15322 23 037

Table 31: Capitalised own performance

Capitalised own performance includes the change in self-produced inventories produced and the
capitalised value of self-produced assets produced. Of the latter, the most material items were
improvement of own and leased vehicles and IC+ car production at a total of HUF 20,218m.

I1.2.3 Expenses by type

figures in HUF millions

2018 [ 2019
Item Percentage Percentage | Change
Amount (%) g Amount (%) g
Material-type expenses, total 168 888 60,79 183 594 61,62 14 706
Payments to personne total 88 923 32,01 93 556 31,41 4633
Depreciation charge, total 19 989 7,20 20 750 6,97 761
Total. 277 800 100,00 297 900 100,00 20100

Table 32: Expenses
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1.2.3.1 Material-type expenses

figures in HUF millions

Percentage Percentage
Item 2018 | within total cost| 2019 | within total cost| Change
in 2018 in 2019
Material cost
Electricity 12 685 4,57 15 889 5,33 3204
Warehouse materials used 19 781 7,12 24 541 8,24 4 760
Fuel 7 661 2,76 7 148 2.40 -513
Uniforms and protective beverage 1010 0,36 1218 0,41 208
Ticket rolls 219 0,08 287 0,10 68
Gas 274 0,10 275 0,09 1
Water and sewage 123 0,04 127 0,04 4
Other materials 1015 0,37 1011 0,34 4
Material costs, total: 42 768 15,40 50 496 16,95 7728
Services used
Rail network access charge 73 509 26,46 73 786 2477 271
Revenues from rail and road cars 7419 2,67 7301 2,45 -118
Railcar rent, RIC and other usage charges 4491 1,62 4976 1,67 485
Railcar maintenance 7909 2,85 9 645 324 1736
Train heating/cooling, car tests, train replacement,
call center, labour hire and other railway operating 2557 0,92 4545 1,53 1988
|services
Property rents 2286 0,82 2437 0,82 151
IT services 4235 1,52 43810 1,61 575
Procurement and inventory management services 1729 0,62 1 750 0,59 21
Building management, maintenance 2286 0,82 2415 0381 129
Traction and shunting I 732 0,62 1803 0,61 71
Railcar cleaning, graffiti removal 3168 1,14 3320 1,11 152
Security services 2159 0,78 2226 0,75 67
Training and human services 2 498 0,90 2 858 0,96 360
Ticket sales commission 1 009 0,36 1194 0,40 185
Other maintenance 1111 0,40 1435 0,48 324
Accounting and financial services 610 0,22 652 0,22 42
Public utilities (sewage, remote healing) 463 0,17 560 0,19 97
Telecom and postal services 345 0,12 355 0,12 10
Secondment 461 0,17 438 0,15 -23
Advertising, promotion, market surveys 175 0,06 339 0,11 164
Railtrack measuring, cleaning, welding 23 0,01 28 0,01 5
Other rents 206 0,07 264 0,09 58
Legal 32 0,01 21 0,01 -11
Experts, tenders, authorship 94 0,03 35 0,01 -59
Track maintenance 5 0,00 3 0,00 -2
Other services used 505 0,18 622 0,21 117
Services used, total: 121 017 43,56 127 818 42,91 6801
Other services
Duties and similar 539 0,19 545 0,18 6
Insurance premium 1 068 0,38 1117 0,37 49
Bank costs 454 0,16 520 0,17 66
Other services, total: 2 061 0,74 2182 0,74 121
Cost of poods sold 233 0,08 269 0,09 36
(Consiznment) services sold 2 809 1,01 2828 0,95 19
Material-type services, total: 168 888 60,79 183 593 61,64 14 705

Table 33: Material-type expenses

Material costs totalled HUF 50,496m in 2019, a HUF 7,728m increase on 2018. Warehouse (engineering)
materials used increased by HUF 4,760m and electricity costs increased by HUF 3,204m on the previous
year. These increases were not set off by saved fuel costs of HUF 513m.

Changes in energy costs were the most prominent in relation to traction electricity.

Services used totalled HUF 127,818m, which is a HUF 6,801m on 2018.
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Within this category, rail vehicle maintenance costs and train replacement services increased the most
(by HUF 1,736m and HUF 2,260m) as a result of the mix, volume and technical substance of maintenance
subcontractor performances as well as the cost of train replacement services used to meet public services
obligations. The most notable replacement service was used because of the closure of track No. 80 due

to renovation works. As the renovation project started in December 2018, train replacement costs were
less material in that year.

.2.3.2 Payments to personnel

figures in HUF millions

I : Pércenfag_e = &7 Percen'ta-ée i

| within total | within total |
E - S costs in 2018 2919 | costsin | Change E
L B O _lo900 | 0
[Payroll costs _ : 64 721 23,301 68856/ 23,12 4135
Other payments to personnel 8872 3,19] 8811 2,96| -6
Payrall taxes [ Is30| sl issssl  s:| 55
[l"_a_y(ue_uts fo personnel, total: | 88923 3201 93556 :"!41," . 4“63_3 |

Table 34: Payments to personnel
The minimum base wage applicable in 2019 is governed by Government decree No. 324/2018. (XIl. 30.)
on the calculation of the minimum wage and the guaranteed wage minimum: both the minimum wage

and the guaranteed wage minimum in jobs that require relevant qualification increased by 8% compared
to0 2018. The minimum wage increase also affected the amount of the rehabilitation contribution liability.

In order to improve the compensation of employees, the salaries and wages of eligible employees were
increased by 5% effective as of 1 January 2019.

Changes in the personal income tax act effective as of 1 January 2019 significantly affected the taxation
of certain fringe benefits.

Parliament decided to cut the social contribution tax by 2% as of 1 July 2019 from 19.5 % to 17.5 % which
was fully used to fund job retention efforts. The resulting savings were fully used.

Payments to personnel also reflect interim measures taken in order to improve MAV-START Zrt’s position
in the job market, i.e. to retain existing staff and to recruit necessary new workers.

1.2.3.3 Depreciation charge

figures in HUF millions

Percentage : | P‘ercenfage !
| | within total | within total

‘ ltem 2018 |costs in 2018! 2019 costs in 2019 Change l
! - _ | () | (%) |
i%fegation charged o_n_g straight lin:e_bagfs 17719656 ) _7_,%% ' '_ 2__0 _@za ] _6,52_ ‘ _5_‘_1_6_,
Fulyexpensed 33 002 W8] 005 -iss]
|Depreciation charge, total: 19 989 7,20|  20750| 6,97 761 |

Table 35: Depreciation charge

Ordinary depreciation was by HUF 761m more than in the previous year.
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Depreciation in the reporting year was HUF 20,750m, of which 83.96% relates HUF 17,422m depreciation
charged on railcars.
Extraordinary depreciation totalling HUF 13m was recognised in 2019.

I1.2.4 Otherincome and expenses

11.2.4.1 Otherincome

figures in HUF millions

Percentage : Percentage |
It 2018 201 :

L |[em | em P | o Chnee
{Tangible and intangible asset disposals 10 0,01 24 0,01} 14|
|Reversed impairment loss on inventories 106 0,06 30 0,02 -76?
Reversed impairment loss on receivables 2 0,00 1 0,00 -1
Collected impaired receivables 15 0,01 _30‘ 0,02| 15;
Damages received 258 0,15 376 0,21 118!
|Late payment penalties collected 15 0,01 9 0,00 -6,
|Penalties collected ) 255 0,15 89 0,05 -166|
Provision for expected liabilities, released 1601 0,92 1436 0,79 -165}
|Provision for future expenses, released 384 0,22 0_ 0,00 -384;
{Provision for unrealised foreign exchange losses, relcased 1322 0,76 0l 0,00 -1322|
[Public service reimbursement 165 890 94,99 174 534 96,54 8 644
{Development subsidies received 4 687 2,68 4135 2,29 -552|
|Surplus assets received free of charge, found during assct count 3 0,00 3 0,00 0|
Miscellaneous other income 96 0,05 118 0,07 22
| Total: _ 174 644 100,00 180 785 100,00 6141]

Table 36: Other income

Reversed impairment loss on inventories dropped by HUF 76m in 2019 compared to 2018.
Compensations for damages received increased by HUF 118m on the previous year.

Provisions for future expenses released increased by decreased by HUF 384m. There was no economic
event in 2019 which would have called for a release of provisions for expenses. Provisions for unrealised
foreign exchange losses released decreased by HUF 1,322m compared to the previous year when
provisions were released in connection with the bullet payment of Eurofima loan No. 11.

The change in development subsidies received was affected by the release of the related subsidies in
proportion to the depreciation of capitalised subsidised assets.

The public service cost reimbursement for the reporting year is presented in detail in Chapter V.
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1.24.2 Other expenses

figures in HUF millions

Percentage Percentage
Item 2018 (%) 2019 (%) Change

Exp.enses o.n disposed of tangible and intangible assets, 9 028 19 0,59 10
capital projects

Expenses (?f scmpped and missing tangible and intangible 19 0.59 0 0,00 19
assets, capital projects

Extraordinary depreciation of tangible and intangible assets 8 0,25 13 0,40 5
Inventories impaired, scrapped 136 4,20 265 8,25 129
Missing inventories 10 0,31 0 0,00 -10
Impairment of receivebales 70 2,16 66 2,05 -4
Losses from damage events 7 0,22 16 0,50 9
Late payment penalties paid 44 1,36 162 5,04 118
Damages paid 142 4,39 242 7,53 100
Tax paid as a result of self-audit 3 0,09 1 0,03 -2
Taxes and similar charges 196 6,05 172 5,35 -24
Penalties, fines 37 1,14 34 1,06 -3
Provisions for expexted liabilities 714 22,06 907 28722 193
Provisions for future expenses 1170 36,14 918 28,56 -252
Provisions for unreliased foreign exchange losses 150 4,63 89 2,77 -61
Assets assigned and services provided free of charge 206 6,36 1 0,03 -205
Forgiven receivables 7 0,22 5 0,16 -2
Amounts transferred free of charge 305 9,42 301 9,37 -4
Misecelanneous other expenses 3 0,09 3 0,09 0
Total: 3237 100,00 3214 100,00 -23

Table 37: Other expenses

Other expenses fell by HUF 23m on the previous year. The HUF 252m decrease in provision for future
expenses was set off by a HUF 193m increase in provisions for expected liabilities, hence there was no
material change in the closing balance of other expenses at the end of 2019. Assets transferred free of
charge and services provided free of charge fell by HUF 205m compared to the previous year.

I1.2.5 Financial profit or loss

11.2.5.1 Financial income

figures in HUF millions

Item 2018 P“':;:)'“ge 2019 P":;:)mge Change
Dividends received (due) 1 0,20 200 28,41 199
Proceeds and foreign exchange gains on investments 0 0,00 4] 0,00 0
::::::s e:nlc‘i):;«s:lgn exchange gains on non-current financial assets 0 0,00 0 0,00 0
Bank interest received (due) and similar income 9 1,84 2 0,28 -7
Other interest received (due) and similar income 14 2.87 0 0.00 -14
l‘;:li]gs:dc::;e;ﬁg:xchange gains on receivables and liabilities in 410 84.02 499 70.98 39
Foreign exchange gains on future and forward contracts 0 0,00 0 0,00 0
i i r- luati i
::;e]liz,;nb;;(::sange gains on the year-end revaluation of receivables 0 0.00 0 0.00 0
Other financial income 54 11,07 3 043 -51
Total: 488 100,00 704 o 100,00 216

Table 38: Financial income
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Income from financial transactions increased by HUF 216m on the previous year, of which the most
material item was dividends of HUF 200m received from MAV VAGON Kft.

The material (HUF 89m) increase in realised foreign exchange gains on foreign exchange receivables was
due to foreign exchange fluctuations.

1.2.5.2 Financial expenses

figures in HUF millions

Item 2018 Percentage 2019 Percentage Change
(%) (%)

Expenses and forelgn exchange losses on investments 0 0,00 0>' 0,00 0/
’Expenses and forelgn exchange losses on non-current financial assets ol 0.00 0 0.00 0
isecurmes loans) ] . |
|Bank interest payable (palg_) and similar chag;es 404 13.90 411 36,79 7|
iOther interest payable (paid) 2 and 5|mllar charges ] 0 0,00 0 0,00 0]
|Impairment loss on investments, securities and bank deposits _ 0 0,00 0 0,00 0
|Realised 7

foreu,n exchang losses on receivables and liabilities in 2502 86.10 705 63.12 1797,
|foreign exchange |
'Forelgn exchange losses on future and forward contracts 0 0,00 0 0,00 0!
:F'orengn exchange losses on the year-end revaluation of receivables and | 0 0.00 0 0.00 0
liabilities
|Other financial expenses 0 0,00 1 0,09 /]
?Tnml; ) i 2906 100,00 1117 100,00 | -1789|

Table 39: Financial expenses
Financial expenses fell by HUF 1,789m on the previous year, primarily as a result of a HUF 1,7972m
decrease in realised foreign exchange losses on receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign

exchange mostly as a result of a HUF 1,771m decrease in the foreign exchange losses on development
loans.

I1.2.6 Income from and expenses on related parties

figures in HUF millions

Fully Non-fully
Item Parent lidated [ lidated Total

company bsidiaries bsidiaries
Revenues |
[Sales revenues, net 4208 487 174] 4869/
|Other income 18 56 1 75
[Financial ncome income 0 206/ T 207]
,Revenues. total: 4226 749 | 176 5151
Expenses . = ._.(
N_l_atgr_la_l type expenses 113 128 12633 201 125962|
|of which: 'Material costs 26 1?2 2069 0 28259|
Services used 86 660 | 10553 201 97414]
Other services 278 0 0] 278)
. LConsu,_nment)_services sold 0 L 0 Ll
ayments to personnel 40 136/ ! !7_7i
Other ex; enses 7 44/ 0} 419
[Financial expenses 0 19] 0 9
|Expenses, total: : 113 543 | 12832 | 202 126 577 |

Table 40: Income from and expenses on related parties

Revenues from the parent company included domestic IC surcharges and seat reservation fees, plus
special train traffic and ticket revenues totalling HUF 35m, shunting revenues of HUF 3,194m, other
traction services of HUF 216m and emergency and chemical accident prevention services of HUF 705m.
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In relation to fully consolidated subsidiaries, the majority of the revenues were earned from MAV Vagon
Kft., MAV FKG Kft. and from MAV KFV Kft. Revenues from MAV Vagon Kft. totalled HUF 226m, of which
HUF 200m were dividends. Revenues from MAV FKG Kft. totalled HUF 148m, of which other engineering
services amounted to HUF 47m, rail vehicle maintenance HUF 59m. Revenues from MAV KFV Kft. totalled
HUF 121m, of which rail vehicle maintenance amounted to HUF 117m.

No deferred income was recognised in relation to any Group entity.

The key expense items towards the parent company were as follows: railcar rent HUF
6,302 M Ft, rail track network charge HUF 73,701m (incl. regional network access HUF 73,723m), traction
fuel HUF 10,468m and traction electricity HUF 11,877m.

Of the fully consolidated subsidiaries, the largest partner was MAV Szolgaltaté Kézpont Zrt. with HUF
11,224m of which the two material items included procurement and inventory management
services(uniforms) at HUF 1,218m and IT maintenance and service costs totalling HUF 3,612m.

The classification of related parties is based on the Group categories defined from the perspective of the
ultimate parent company (MAV Zrt.).

I1.2.7 Corporate tax base adjusting items

figures in HUF millions

Increasing Reducing Change in
Item . .
items items tax base

Pre-tax profit 2152
Adjustment due to provisions 1 825 1436 389
Adjustment due to depreciation 20 781 31303 -10 522
Costs and expenses incurred outside the normal course

of business 159 0 159
Penalty/reimbursement identified by authorities 7 0 7
Dividends received 0 200 -200
Adjustment due to the employment of vocational

trainees 0 34 -34
Impairment loss on receivables recognised/reversed 67 31 36
Expense/income identified by tax audit, self-audit 326 491 -165
Donations 0 24 -24
Total: 23 165 33519 -8 202

Table 41: Corporate tax base adjusting items

The corporate tax base is established from the pre-tax profit, which must be
increasing or decreasing the tax base specified by law.

At MAV-START Zrt., the following major items amended the pre-tax profit:

adjusted with items

e The provision for expected liabilities and for future expenses increased the tax base by HUF
1,825m, while released provisions reduced the tax base by HUF 1,436m.

e The tax base was increased by the actually charged amount of ordinary depreciation and
expensed disposed of assets totalling HUF 20,781m. Depreciation charged up to the limits
specified in section 7(1)d) and appendices 1 and 2 of the corporate tax act reduces the tax base
— for MAV-START Zrt., this amount was HUF 31,303m for 2019.
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® costs incurred outside the normal course of business in 2019 totalled HUF 159m (HUF 150m
grant through MAV Zrt. to reduce the passenger transport cost of Gyermekvasut [Children’s
Railway] and donations of HUF 9m to civil organisations and municipalities) increased the
corporate tax base.

MAV-START Zrt. does not have any corporate tax payment liability to the Hungarian Tax Authority as an
overall result of the pre-tax profit and the adjusting items.

In previous years, the Hungarian Tax Authority (NAV) conducted a comprehensive tax audit at MAV-START
Zrt. for all fiscal years ended 2011 and for the fiscal years of 2014-2015.

NAV did not conduct any audit at the Company in 2019 that would have resulted in a period closed with
a tax audit nor made any observations in that respect.

The tax authority may examine the books and records at any time for up to 6 (six) years after the
respective tax year and may revise assessments or impose penalties. The managers of the Company are
not aware of any condition based on which the Company could incur any related obligation.

I1.2.8 Profit and loss account using the cost of sales method

The Company does not prepare a profit and loss account with the cost of sales method.

1.2.9 Other P&L related disclosures

The Company’s management proposes the distribution of dividends as set out in the business plan upon
approval of the financial statements for 2019.
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1.3 Cash flow statement

The Company'’s cash flow statement for 2019 is presented in the following table:
figures in HUF millions

No. Item 2018. 2019.
1 Operating cash flows (lines 1-13) 13127 26 692
la.  |Pre-tax profit or loss + 6779 2152
of which: financially settled public service cost reimt and reimt subsidy 136 151 136 919
1b. |Dividends received - -1 -200
lc. |Amounts received/transferred free of charge recognised in profit or loss + 305 0;
1d. |Unrealised foreign exchange gain or loss on liquid assets + 1 0
le. Ecaliscd foreign exchange gain or loss related to the repayment of long-term loans and long-term liabilities 0 0
1f.  |Unrealised foreign exchange gain or loss on non-current assets and long-term liabilines = 334 192
Realised foreign exchange gain or loss related to the repayment of long-term loans granted and long-term
1g. | 418 30
liabilities +
1h. |Non-specified pre-tax profit or loss ad) related to d stat d assets 0 0
1i.  |Non-current assets contributed £ 0 0
1j. Non-current assets granted free of charge + 0 0
1k.  |Other non-specified adjustments to the pre-tax profit or loss 33 -38
1. Adjusted pre-tax profit or foss (la+1b+ict1d+1et1f+1gHIh+lit1j+1k) = 7 869 2137
2. Amortisation charge + 19 989 20 750!
3. Impairment loss recognised and reversed + 125 312
4,  |Difference between provisions made and released + -1273 479
5.  |Gains/Losses on non-current asset disposals + <2 -5
6. Movements in creditors + <7345 -7497
7. |Mavements in other current liabilities + 10813 17424
7a.  |Changes in intra-division scttlements (liabilities) + 0 0
8 M in accrued exp and deferred income + -8433 -3 955
9.  {Movements in debtors + 275 207
10. |Movements in current assets (less debtors and liquid assets) + -10 856 -2974
10a. |Changes in intra-divisi ! (receivables) + 0 0
1. M in prepaid exg and accrued income + 4165 813
12. |Income taxes paid, payable - 0 0!
13.  |Dividends paid, payable - -2200 -1 000
1. \|Investing cash [Tows (lines 14-18) -20 358 -29 859
14.  |Non-current asset additions - -20 388 -30 062
15.  |Non-current asset disposals + 29 2
16. |Long-term loans and bank deposits repaid, inated, red: d + 1 1
17.  |Long-term loans granted and bank deposits placed - 0 0
18.  |Dividends recaved + 1 200
Il,  |Financing cash flows (lines 19-27) 5483 4 753
18.  |Shares issued, capital injection + 1865 0
20. |Issue of bonds and debt securities + 0 0
21.  |Loans and borrowings taken + 15 401 8 040
22. |Amounts received free of charge + 193 129
23,  Shares withdrawn, disinvestment {capital reduction) - 1] 0
24,  |Bonds and debt secunities repaid - 0 0!
25. |Loans and borrowings repaid - -11 558 -3116
26. |Amounts transferred free of charge - -305 -300
27. in habilities to founders and in other long-term liabilities + -114 0
V. \Cash flows (L+I.+1il.) -1748 1586
28.  [Revaluation of cash and cash cquivalents held in foreipn exchange -1 0
V. |Change in cash and cash equivalents (IV.+28) -1749 1586 c
Table 42: Cash flow statement

In accordance with the accounting policies, adjustments over HUF 500m of the changes in lines 6 to 11 of
the cash flow statement were as follows:

line 6 Movements in creditors HUF -7,483m
(related to fixed asset acquisitions)
line 7 Changes in other current liabilities HUF 2,164m
of which key items: - change in capit! due to contribution in kind HUF - 3,061m
- capital increase registered HUF 4,926m
line 8 Changes in accrued expenses and deferred income HUF - 6,687m

(related to assets constructed/acquired from subsidies)
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Elaboration of the key lines:
The pre-tax profit was HUF 2,152m.

The change in cash and cash equivalents (line iV) reflects the Cash and cash equivalents line in the balance
sheet line (B. IV.} which shows an increase of HUF 1,586m in 2019. This change was due to the following
factors:

e Operating cash flows relating to core operations show inflows of HUF 26,692m in 2019 and were
due predominantly to the changes in depreciation and in liabilities.

e There was a HUF -29,859m outflow from investing cash flows as a result of tangible asset
acquisitions.

e Financing cash flows show an outflow of HUF 4,753m mostly as a result of the repayment of
development loans.
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.4 True and fair asset, financial and income position

Assets

Non-current i

Non-current assets
Total assets

Tanaible asset margin

Equity
Own tangible assets
Fixed asset margin
Equity

Own non-current assets

Current assets o non-current assets

Current assets
Non-current assets

Equity and liabilities

Gearing ratio

Equi
Total equity and liabilities

Borrowed capital rabo

Borrowed capital {Liabilities)
Equity

hdebtedness ratio

Borrowed capital (Liabilities)
Total equity and liabilities

288 713

374 047

132 849

280 782

132 849

288 713

817889

288 713

132 849

374 047

126 641

132 849

126 641

374 047

77,19%

47.31%

4601%

28,33%

3552%

95,33%

33,86%

(2018: 76,20 %)

(2018: 49,52 %)

(2018:48,31 %)

(2018: 29,57 %)

(2018:36,82 %)

(2018: 83,79 %)

(2018: 30,85 %)
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Long-term liabilities ratio

Long-term liabiliies 14 062

Long-term liabilities + Equity = 6911 = 957% (2018:11.82%)
Equity increase ratio
Equity I 132 849 & .
Issued capital 45 000 495 (2018:29)
Profitability ratios
EBITDA (operating profit + deprecation) = 2565 + 20750 = 23315 (2018:29.186 MFt )
_ EBMMDA _ 23315 _ N R
EBITDA rate = Sakes reverues, el = —o0857 = 23,35% (2018: 29,11 %)
_ Operating profit _ 2565 _ o .
Return on sales (ROS) = Sales reventes, net = 99857 = 257% (2018:9,17 %)
Financial position
: ital :
Net working capital
Current assets — Currert liabilities = 81789 - 112579 = -30 790 (2018:-11.639 MFt)
Liqudity ratio
Curment asseis _ 81789 = 2
Current liabilities - 112579 = 72.85% (2018: 86,96 %)
Quick ratio
Current assets - hventories _ 53 306 _ .
Current labllites - 112579 - 47.35% (2018:60.16 %)
Cash liquidity
Liguid assets Fr 3423 - 5 . o
Current liabilities - 112579 3.04% (2018:2.06 %)

1.5 Balance sheet and profit and loss account for items affecting
previous years

The impact of the errors detected for the previous years in 2019 was below the threshold defined in the
accounting policies and therefore the detected errors were recognised in the profit or loss for the
reporting year and not in a separate column.
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lll.1 Environment protection

MAV-START Zrt's environmental service provider is MAV SZK Zrt's Environmental Unit which delivers
environmental services based on the underlying general service contract (Back-office contract) as
amended for each year. Any environmental work done is accounted for based on the number of hours
and each task is carried out based on recurring and one-off orders. The Company’s Safety Directorate is
in charge of the technical management of our environmental activities.

As in the previous years, ALCUFER Kft. was engaged also in 2019 to disassembly of scrapped railcars. Some
of the selected 13 vehicles are not movable and therefore must be disassembled on location.

Arrangements for the licensing of air pollution sources that form parts of the technologies installed at the
premises and applying for water licences are done by our environmental service providers. The related
fees and charges are settled by the Security Directorate. Such charges paid in 2019 included HUF 549,000
in relation to air pollution sources, HUF 257,400 for sewage proceedings and HUF 213,400 justified sewage
testing cost re-charged by the public utilities service provider.

A new car wash was commissioned at the premises of the Nagykanizsa vehicle operating directorate.
Based on the tests of the disinfectant wash sludge, which was previously classified as hazardous waste, is
now collected by the local public sewage company as household sewage. Our sewage disposal costs
significantly reduced as a result.

At the premises of the Nyiregyhaza vehicle operating directorate, a new de-emulsifier was installed to
treat the sewage produced by the engine washer in the boiler room. The related operating licence also
includes the industrial and firefighting water systems originally licenced to MAV Zrt. but now MAV-START
Zrt. is named as the licence holder. This situation is unfavourable for us. However, attempts to restore the
initial licence position which reflects the actual operators are expected to involve new licence applications
and possibly a new planning permit process. The authorities seem to prefer us filing for new licence
applications under the new regulations if we wish to renew the licences issued before the current
regulations took effect with their former substance.

Of the five tracks belonging to the repair hall ‘A’ at the Szolnok vehicle operating directorate, one track
remained for use by the original vehicle repair purposes. Two of the five tracks are now used for the
purposes of the activities of the Szolnoki Jarm(javité (Szolnok Repairs Division) formerly pursued in the
“Palm House” which is now under reconstruction for the KISS multiple unit trains. The other two tracks
are rented by Alstom to fit Flirt trains with ETCS devices.

No environmental damage had to be rectified in 2019 as a result of accidents involving our vehicles. it is
frequent, however, that an engine fault (often a broken drive shaft) causes damage in the fuel system or
otherwise so that the train cannot be used any longer.

Another common error in 2019 was overfilling M41 engines at Tapolca, which meant that larger volumes
of gasoline leaked into the environment at the gasoline filling station. While the filling stations are
equipped with gasoline traps, the damage prevention system requires cleaning after each accidental
overfilling which means extra costs in addition to the cost of the wasted gasoline. An investigation into
the case found a significant difference, cca. 230 litres, between the quantities shown by the liquid level
control and the filling station. A recommendation to avoid similar spillage in the future was made to the
technical function.
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lil.1.1 Environmental obligations

figures in HUF millions

Item Opening | Increase | Decrease | Closing

._Non—distnbutable reserv 0 0 0 0
_Provisio_n 0 _ 0 0 0

Table 43: Environmental reserve and provisions

The Company had no environmental reserve in 2019.

figures in HUF millions

£3 T - N

_‘ Item 2018 2019 Change |

|
|Environmental expenses 377 424 47‘_

Table 44: Environmental expenses

lll.1.2 Tangible assets directly serving environment protection

figures in HUF millions

Other

[Seri Properties | Technical equipment Capital

Eal ITEM and related mnc‘hinery, fittings, 'l projects, Total

!No. rights equipment vehicles renovations {
}I "Cost, opening 181 195 0 0 3 76
2. |Additions 423 92 0 0 515
3. Dlsposals 0 0 0 0 0l
lq. Reclassxﬁed 0 0 0 0 6
(5. [ Cost closing 604 287 0 0| 891
|6. fbeprecmtwn, opening 8 54 0 0 62|
il .Ordm inary df_Erecmuon in 2019 22 21 9] 0] 43
18 Extraordmaru deprec. in 2019 0 0 0 0 0]
9. Extraordmalz deprec., reversed 0 0 0 0 0|
11 0. [Deprecmnon written off 0 0 0 0 0]
{11, Other increase 0 0 0 0 0;
|12._|Other decrease 0 0 0 0 0]
JI3. 'Recla551ﬁed 0 0 0 0 0|
14, 'vDepreaalwn, closing 30 75 0 0 105|
\15. [NBY, opening 173 141 0 0 314
16 [NBV, closing 574] 212 0 0| 786

Table 45: Tangible assets directly serving environment protection

Most of the increase was due to the car wash system (HUF 423m) commissioned in Nagykanizsa in 2019.

Depreciation is charged on MAV-START Zrt’s environmental assets, just as for all other tangible assets, on
a straight line basis over the useful life of the asset.
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lll.1.3 Hazardous waste values and quantities
Waste resulting from the Company’s operations is continuously disposed of.

¢ Movements in hazardous waste

figures in HUF miillions

EWCID Item Opening Increase Decrease Closing
130205*  |Non-chiorine lubricants . 1 8 7 2
130307* Crude oil based, non-chlorine insulation 0 2 1 1

and heat transmission oils
160601*  iLead batteries 10 2
Total 5 18 18 5

Table 46: Hazardous and polluting waste

¢ Movements in waste oil

figures in HUF millions

2018 2019
Receiver Sold, net Sold, net
S (kg) val,ue Sl (kg) val’ue
MOL-LUB Kft. 124 281 7 154 574 8

Table 47: Waste oil disposed of
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e Hazardous waste and pollutant quantities

figures in kgs

ID code i ltem Opening Additi Disposal Closing
0601 06* | Acidic sulphur waste o 152 0 152 0
06 02 04* :Nalrium and p ium hidroxide 0 1000 0 1 000!

~070104* | Other organic solvents \vnshmngds and solid caustics 216 43 124 135

070603* |Halogeni 5 hqulds 193 193] 0

080111% Waste paint and varnish containing organic solvents and other
! hazardous substances | 2618 54720, 3492 53844

080117* [Waste containing organic solvents or pther hazardous substances 6276 38827 8276 36 827
080317* |Toner waste with hazardous substances 1515 1596 1435 1686

080409* | Waste adhesive, filling and sealing agents with organic solvents and

\other hazardous substances 2588 7044 1778 7854

100402* | Blast fumace slag/cinder from primary and second: roductton and 0 775 0 775

110198*  Material with other hazardous substances 134 2735] 1348 2735

120109* _Non-halgenic cooling-lubricant emulsions and solutions 291 197 29 197

120112* | Waste wax and grease 140 3047 2133 2121

120116* |Sand blast waste with hazardous substances . | Or 28933 10 760 18173

120118* | Oil stained metal sludge (from buffing honing lapping) 4538 19 556 3258 20 836

130113* | Other hydraulic oils o 1879 2273 2740 1412

130205* |Chlorine engine and other lubricants 23 932 123 267 32845 114 354

| 130208* |Other engine and gear lubricants - 0 45 0 45
30307* _Mineral oil based,non-chlorine insulation and heat transmitting oils 4 873 31307, 13 158 23022
30502* Sludge from oil/water separators 3166 31127 ... 8976 25317
30506* Qi from oil/water separators 0 12085 0 12 085

130508* _ 'Mixed waste from de-gritter and from oil/water separators 48 334 840 0 334 988

130701* _|Buming oil and diesel oil 1.160 526 634

130703* ' Other fuel 680 680 0
1308 99* |Unspecified waste (stained fuel) 0 663 330 333

140601*  |Chlorine-fluorine-hydrocarbons, HCFC, HFC 1 80 | g o 80_

N 140603* | Other solvent mixes 140 2420 760 1 800
150110*  'Packaging with hazardous content or stains { 8 02 77672 93575 76 119
_150111* [Metal packaging with hazardous solid porous matrix (e.g. asbestos) | 102 1629 1077 1588
150202* |Absorbents, filters (incl. Non-specified oil filters), clothesand 4 20 3 89 088 31288 78133

16 01 04* ' Vehicles no longer fit for use as a product { 6 000 3600/ 6000/ 3600

160107* |0l filters L 28645 8534 4126 7053

160114* | Anti-freeze with hazardous substances o L2975 2434 1514 3895

160121*  [Hazardous spare parts o ! 1472 611 752 1331

160213* D issioned equif ) o | 607 50 512 145

160303* |Inorganic waste with hazardous substances R L 214, 40 158 96|

160305* :Organic waste with hazardous substances 6357 8 669 5135 9891

"' 1
. . .
i 160506 'Lnboralory chemicals with hazardous substance contents - 124 45 79
Demissioned inorganic checmicals with hazard b
160507+
contents 374 10 246 138

160601*  |Lead batteries 20599 47 407 10 759 57247

160606* [Electrolites collected separately from batteries . |_..1000 10 390 2 860 8530
_160708* |Oil stained waste - 1 1782 2352 1809 2325

161001* |Hazardous liquid waste 60 25519 0 25579

170204* _ !Stained/contaminated glass. plastic, timber 250 2121 1296 1075

170301* | Asphalt mix with coal tar content (] 0 0

170409* | Stained/contaminated metal waste o ] 135 87 0 222

. - .

170410* Qil stained, carbon stained or other hazardous cable waste 100 130 100 130

170503* ISlained soil and stones 5379 22775 5973 22 181

170601* :Asbcstos insulators 0 0

; —

170603* |Other insulators with hazardous material contents

| B B 56 a8 50 51
17 06 05* |Other waste the collection and treatment of which require special
lconditions in order to avoid contamination 2 26
18 01 03* |Saturated or depleted ion-exchange resins _ 8 12 10 10
T

190806* 'Sludge from industrial sewage with h | b: cs . B B

| 190813* | Light tubes and other mercurous waste T 11460 409 996 11460 409996

_200121* |Hazardous washing agents 1.055 1387 814 1628

200129*  hazardous detergents

| . i LG i - 78

200133* | Batteries including those with codes 16 06 01, 16 06 02 and 16 06 03 |

8 e — — | — 579 1631 893 1317
I —— “Hazardous scrapped electric and elecironic equipment otlier than

ﬂ.—bm te.coded 2001 21 and 200123 R S 15025 10138 13032
200137* |Contaminated timber | 500 2220 690 2030

Totul: 159 448 1429 960 200756, 1388 652I

Table 48: Hazardous waste and pollutant quantities
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ll.2 Research and development expenses

R&D expenses, other technical development expenses and capitalised R&D activities are presented below:

figures in HUF millions

Item ] 2018 2019
R&D costs 0 0
Of which: Own R&D to be capitalised o 0 0
Other indirect costs of technical development 0 0
Total: 0 0
Table 49: R&D expenses
figures in HUF millions
Item Opening Increase Decrease Closing

Cost 516 0 0 516

Depreciation 450 66 0 516

Net value 66 0f 0 0

R&D in progress 0 0 0 0

Total: 66 66 0 0

Table 50: Capitalised R&D

In 2019, no expenses incurred in relation to R&D activities.

Depreciation of the value of experimental development relating to the IC+ railcars capitalised in 2014
ended in 2019.
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1.3 Subsidies

figures in HUF millions

Subddy | = = 2018 [ 2019 ]
received Cash Cash
approved| Subsidise
i )p(pnsln damount :::.: (hl:: B ';:::ﬂ:::
Subsidy | the in Subsidised| Unused | Disbursed ! Paid from subsidy at amount in | Subsidised| Unused | Disbursed | Paid from ubsidy at
i amount | subsidy | subsidy | subsidy previous | amount | subsidy | subsidy | subsidy N
underlyin| previous the » the
g | year(s) balance year(s) balance
o (documenti | | S _| sheet date | —e N I—— i sheet date
Subsidised fares on social grounds™ 18572 1330 17242 0/ 20800 0 -1097 1178] 178 0] 16520 0 -1330
Reimbursed excise tax on gasolincuse® 4 557/ 767 3495 o 3208 o 62 8 4422 o 3659 0 763
[Subsidies o I
| (profect + cost) 128795) 43985 14240, 70570 130 82 39| 36487, 7498 84810 191 0 44
of which:
KUZOP-IKOP INKA 671 629 0 42 0 ] 0 524 105 42 105 1] 0
IKOP 39 11 high capucity trains 60550 27965 6009 26576 %) 0l 1527965 0 32585 0 (i 0
IKOP Tram Train 17623 7954 31 96 31 0 0 7954 0 9669 0 [} 0
FLIRT ETCS imatlation in 59
trains 7351 2970 0 4381 0 32 13 44 2926 4381 86 0 44
IKOP 8 hugh capactiy trains 35000 3870 7732 27 398 . 0 3870/ 35130 0 1] 0
IKOP- INKA 2 subsidv 3600 597 468 2535 50 50 -7 0 597 3003 Q 0 0
Prior years public sarvice |
|reimbursement settlaments in 2019 12242) 11349 893 0 12242 0 0 o] 5018 0 26056 0 -11349
Public service reimburscment for 2019 | 45 649 0 173641 0 136025 .+ 0 -37615) 0 160871 o 132830 0 -28041
GINOP- 187 "Spektrum"” subsdiy
received to cover expenses
8 Y] _8 0 0 o 0 0 0 Y 0 0 o
Total: 337845 57426] 209819 70570 172 402 82 -39377] 38453 195660, 84810/ 179256 0 41827

* Amount of statutory subsidy for the year

Table 51: Subsidies recognised in the reporting year

Further details of subsidies are presented in Chapter IV.5 among the other disclosures relating to
accounting unbundling.

figures in HUF millions

_ﬂb_s?disl_g&ﬁfes on social &rounds 1 20;18_ I - 2019 _
50% discount 3394 3440
90% discount 2147, 1970
Students _ 6370/ 5806
OAPs over 70 (65) 5 940! 6 026
'fo?izl: D 17850 17 2?15:

Table 52: Subsidised fares
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.4 Average headcount, payroll cost and other payments to

personnel
figures in HUF millions
N T 2018 N 009
Staff cat : Other | T ] Other | B T
ke il Payroll cost | payments to,  Total Pert;ntnge IPayroll cost | payments to Total Perc;nmge
personnel | (%) personnel | %)
Blue collar 45541 6265 51806 7040, 48729 6208 55027 7085
b e — S——— E— —
White collar 19 140 2588 21728 29.52| 20074 2508 22 582 29,08
Inactive 4 t9] 59 008] 53 s s8 007
Total: 64721 | 8872\ 73593 100,00, 68856 8811 77 667 100,00
Table 53: Payments to personnel, net of payroll taxes
figures in HUF millions
2018 2019
Payroll taxes Percentage Percentage
Amount (%) Amount (%)
Social contribution tax 12438 81,14 13953 87,82
Rehabilitation contribution 849 5,54 910 5,73
|Health care contribution 1112 7,25 1 0,01
ﬁVocational training contribution 931 6,07 1025 6,45
Total: 15330 100,00 15 889 100,00
Table 54: Payroll taxes by type
2018 2019
Staff category Average statistical | Percentage Av?rzfgc Percentage
ber of staff %) statistical %)
nu number of staff
Blue collar 9767,6 69,96 9861,4 70,82
White collar 4195,0 30,04 4063,6 29,18
Total number of staff: 13 962,6 100,00 13925,0 100,00
Table 55: Number of employees
Average pay (HUF/p/monthjAverage pay per category (HUF/y
Staff category
2018 2019 2018 2019
- blue collar 380 192 403 708 258 184 275 807
- white collar 368 382 395242 326 894 351 339
Full time staff 376 658 401 248 278 712 297 756

Table 56: Average salaries and salaries per statutory staff category including public workers

The Company did not employ any worker under the public employment scheme in 2019.
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Percentage of whi'ch Percentage Index of Whi,Ch
Category 2018 (%) public 2019 (%) 20192018 | public

workers workers
Full time 13937 99,64 0 13843 99,45 99,33 0
- blue collar 9829 70,27 0| 9807 7045 99,78 0
- y_vh_i;e collar 4108 29,37 0 4036 28,99 98,25 0
|Part time 51 0,36 0 77 0,55 150,98 0
- blue collar 18 0,13 0 32 023 177,78 0
- white collar 33 0,24 0 45 0,32 136,36 0
Total number of staff 13 988 100,00 0. 13920 100,00 99,51 0

Table 57: Number of employees at the end of the year

li.5 Information about senior officers and Supervisory Board members

ll.5.1 Remuneration of executive officers and members of the Supervisory
Board in the reporting year

figures in HUF millions

Category 2018 2019 | Change |
.‘fSenior officers 41 68 27.
Supervisory Board 4 7 3|
\Total: 45 75 30/

Table 58: Remunerations paid in 2019
l.5.2 Advance payments, loans disbursed to executive officers and
Supervisory Board members, guarantees assumed on their behalf

No advances were paid or loans were disbursed to, nor were guarantees assumed on the behalf of
executive officers and Supervisory Board members in 2019.

II.5.3 Pension payment obligations towards former executive officers and
Supervisory Board members

The Company has no pension payment obligations towards its former executive officers or Supervisory
Board members.
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lll.L6 The Company’s investments

figures in HUF

:"’:; o Omaersht|, 2= pogend p T Insued capital at 3§ | Reservesat 31 | Netprefitfar3t | Equityat 31 Dec |Registered capial Q:Tr:j:::. Bock value ot 1 Jan,
) . 018+ B
¢ P | en | ¢ Dec 2019 Dec 019 Pec 2013 2019 Ly | W19
! . Kéayves Ralman Lorel

138 MAV Szelgihito Ktepont 2t 025 | 2000209 | 1007 | Butxpent e 101000000 1436 666 134 BT 88 2564210587 2000 000 21000 000)
00 MAVVAGON KR 9993 | 20140100 | 8000 | Sidlakchins Tiarodé o | 343980 000] 315 697 690) T $R%Em0] 1031 4 30377 194
|Fully comsalidated sbaidiaries, totel BT W] 51311 39
[Nonfully comsolidated ukndianes. totzL 1 1 1

I i 1 | | | 0

191 [TSMAV Gipésel Servces Kt [ oo [z 67 | Bulpe | Flula 000000206 271 000! WIHTTI__ 285 160453 750 00, 750 000

[ssocicie, total 1% 00 150 o0y
147 |BCC 136 | 19970128 |B1060|  Brusclies '"’“‘“‘"::I" Toede 16439 830 "2 482365
120 {Vasitegestseglgn KA 0010 | 0131007 | 1062 |  Bubpest | Podmamalyu 109 70100 000]__L149 579 47 W] 15510680 100 000 100 009
[Ocher investments ioial. { [ | 1 582 265 582 265!
Toal: | | | [ 253 209 359, 0 283 209 559)

*based on preliminary figures

Table 59: The Company’s investments and opening balances

figures in HUF

Reverna Aeremaist
| Coptal | Capital “:‘"“' "“"h"' i :‘: d:':‘:' " | Restocdapitl | Irpairmont ) | R vane
; Porchase | lacreme, | decrose, | Dopmal iading 009 Correst for the carrent] D7 ak. #3112 anat

| 5. wplad (treakemate traastoomati i cadof i mea | S wasn

Ijctien | diveatment sevtement | w @ | cratyar Lold Lol o Camat Lid
yor

¥ 1 390000 IO 60
030 {MAV VAGON KA 037781 ELEY
Py connbdiced sba diarie Total, i [ 0 i i ] i i 52374 k]
Vo flly comofdsied mbsidiories Tutd 1 ' ’ fl [ [ [ 141 #n ' ' ' ' E]
1 7 9
181 HSJAY Gepeure Scrvem Kt mﬁ* 30000
|iseicared companies Tuta: [ i i [ [ [ [l ¥ 5] B
T [BC T 13 313) 7] i W70
13 [\eswganggy kL | 1 1060 10000
{Other porticspazing interests Total: ] [] [ [ ] [ [ [IEm 958 k]
Toml: [ ] ] [] [] [ [ i 232048741 BRI

Table 60: Changes in the Company’s investments in 2019

There was no change in MAV-START Zrt's investments in 2019.

lll.7 Disclosures of the exempted parent company

MAV-START Zrt. exercises direct dominant control over MAV VAGON Kft. due to its 99.92% participating
interest held in the company.

figures in HUF millions

MAYV VAGON Kft. 2019.12.31
Non-current assets 643
Equity 899
Sales revenues, net 8 804
Net profit 339
Statistical number of staff 199

Table 61: MAV VAGON Kft. reported figures as at 31 December 2019

1.8 Material not arm’s length transactions with related parties

The Company had no significant not arm’s length transactions in the reporting year.
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1.9 Permanent establishments abroad

The Company has no permanent establishments abroad.

.10  Significant post-balance sheet events

As a result of the pandemic outbreak in March 2020, MAV Group has incurred material extra costs and
management has taken measures in an effort to offset these. However, these measures are not adequate
to make up for the significant lost income of the passenger public service companies. Public services may
only be cut back upon approval of the Principal, the Ministry for Innovation and Technology. Until such an
approval is obtained, all MAV Group companies need to operate wholly. In view of the fact that all
pandemic related costs are justified and that no significant reduction in the ordered services has been
effected as yet as negotiations with the relevant ministries are ongoing in order to ensure adequate
railway services in the wake of the government’s actions to combat the outbreak, all public service
companies are expected to incur justified extra costs that are reimbursable by the Principal based on both
underlying legislation and contractual terms. This reimbursement obligation is also valid for any changes
in order volumes (e.g. lost track usage income at MAV Zrt.). The unbudgeted cost increases at public
service provider and public service supporting subsidiaries will be recovered through cost-based pricing.
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IV Annual supervisory report — Disclosures pursuant to decree
50/2007 of the Ministry for Economy and Transport and the
Finance Ministry (GKM-PM) on the accounting unbundling of rail
fransport activities within railway companies

The balance sheet, profit and loss account and cash-flow statement prepared separately for the
unbundled activities required in the supervisory report are included in the tables below and reflect the
information of the:

* public service passenger transportation division (SK) with respect to passenger transportation
performed based on public service contract

* non-public service division (SN) with respect to non-public service passenger transportation

* and the other activities division (E) with respect to non-passenger transport services.
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IV.1 Balance sheet disclosures

figures in HUF millions

Public service Non-public service . MAVSTART Zrt
: P iger transp p iger transport | Other activities (E)
Linc Item (SK sN) Total
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019

A. |NON-CURRENT ASSETS 257360 277 182 5026 11531 0 0| 262386 288713
I |INTANGIBLE ASSETS 5 909 7 346 244 332 0 0 6153 7678
1. Capitalised cost of foundation/restructuring 0 (1] 0 [1] 0 0 0 0
2. Capitalised cost of developm 66 0 0 0 0 0 66 0
3. Concessions, licenses and similar rights 726 1109 3 2 0 0 729 1111
4. Trade-marks, patents and similar rights 5117 5794 241 330 0 0 5358 6124
5. Goodwill 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6. Advance payments for i ible assets 0 443 0 0 0 0 0 443
7. Revaluation of intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Il |TANGIBLE ASSETS 251 198 269 583 47820 1199 0 0| 255980, 280782
1. Land and buildings and related property rights 3029 4287 1 - 1 0 0 3030 4288
2. Plant, machinery, equipment and vehicles 197371 197618 21775 11 120 0 0! 200 146| 208 738
3. Other equi fixtures and fittings, vehicles 2 5 0 0 0 0 2 5
4. Breeding stock 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5. Capital projects in progress 8015/ 17720 2006 8 0 (1] 10 021 17 798
6. Advance payments for capital projects 42 781 49 953 0 0 0 0 42 7181 49 953
7. Adjusted value of tangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
HI |NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 253 253 [ 7 0 4 253 253
1. Long-term inv in related parties 252 252 0 [} 0 0 252 252
2. Long-term loans granted to related parties 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3. Other long-tenn investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 [1} [
4. Long-term loans to significant investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
52 Other long-term investments 1 1 0 0 0 0 | |
6. Long-term loans granted to other investnents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7. Other long-term loans d 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8. Long-term debt securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9. Adjusted of financial investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
10.! Gain/Loss on the valuation of financial investments 0 0 0 0 1] 0 0 0
B |CURRENT ASSETS 69920 76 043 3643 566 7856 8404 77597, 81789
/. |INVENTORIES 20836| 28216 3039 182 41 85| 23916 28483
i Materials 15457 21210 2 561 155 0 0 18018] 21365
2, Work in progress and semi-finished products 1624 3532 459 3 41 85 2124 3620
3. Animals for breeding, fattening and other livestock 0 0 0 ) 0 0 0 0
4. Finished products 1320 1856 7 10 0 ] 1327 1 866
5. Goods 0 0 12 14 0 1] 12 14
6. Advance payments for inventaries 2435 1618 0 0 0 0 2435 1618
Il |RECEIVABLES 47411 44945 530 295 7724 T867 51844 49883
1. Trade debtors 911 613 448 233 3516 3825 4875 4671
2. Receivables from related parties 473 463 | 1 322 7 79 1241
3. Receivables from significant investments 121 148 1] 0 64 41 185 189
4. Receivables from other investments 18 20 0 0 0 0 18 20
5. Bills of exchanyre receivable 0 0 1] 0 1) 0 0 0
6. Other receivables 45888, 43701 81 61 0 0| 45970, 43762
7. Revaluation difference of receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8. Gain on derivative transactions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Receivables from inter-division settl t 0 0 0 [ 3822 3224 0 0
11l |SECURITIES 0 0 4 a U] o 2 [/
L, Equity in related parties 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2, Significant equity investment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3. Other equity investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4, Treasury shares and quotas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5. Marketable debt securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6. Revaluation difference of securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4]
1V. |LIQUID ASSETS 1673 2882 74 89 91 452 1837 3423
1. Cash, cheques 152 152 3 4 0 0 155 156
2. Bank deposil 1521 2730 71 85 91 452 1682 3267
C. |PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME 3495 43 612 412 251 90 4358 3545
1. Accrued income 1171 821 612 3714 251 90 2034 1285
2, Prepaid expenses 1285 1154 0 38 0 0 1285 1192
3, Deffered expenses 1039 1068 0 0 0 0 1039 1068
ASSETS, TOTAL 330775 356 268 9281 12509 & 107 8494 344341 374047

Table 62: Asset side of MAV-START Zrt’s unbundled balance sheet

figures in HUF millions
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Pubhlic service passenger Non-public servie . {1
Line ltem sransport (SK) passenger trasnport (SN) Other activities (E) | MAV-START Znt. Total
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
D |EourrY 116268 122202 2554 2300 7949 8347 126771 132849
1 ISSUED CAPITAL 43 627 44 767 15 23 0 0 43742 45 000
of which: treasury shares redeemed at face value 0| 0 0 0 0 0 0 |
il. _JISSUED CAPITAL NOT PAID 0 0 [1) 0 0 0 0 0|
Ill. {CAPITAL RESERVE 65 788 69273 1845 2028 0 0 67633 71301]
IV. [RETAINED EARNINGS 1331 6395 531 5% 6171 6949 8033 13 938,
V. |ALLOCATED RESERVES 584 458 [1] 0 0 1] 584 458
VI. |REVALUATION RESERVE 9 0 0 0 0 [} Ui
1, Revaluation reserve on value ad 0! 0 0 0 0 0 0]
2 Reval reserve on fair value 0 0 0 ) 0 0 0,
VIl {PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4938 1309 63 -555 1778 1398 6779 2152
E__|PROVISIONS 6288 6776 1 2 [/} [ 6299 6778
1 Provisions for expected liabilities 2136 1616 11 2 0 [1) 2147, 1618
2 Provisions for future expenses 3 632 4550 0 0 0 0] 3632 4 550}
3. Other provisions 520 610 0 0 0 0 520 610
F  \LIABILITIES 103 600 119960 6420 9868 26 37 106224 126 641
I ISUBORDINATED LIABILITIES 0 0 0 0 ) 0 0 0
L Subordinated liabilities to related parties 0 0 0 0l 0l 0 0 0
2 Subordinated liabilities to significant investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3 Subordinated liabilities to other investments 0 0 0 0 0 0| 0 0
4, Subordinated liabilities to third parties 0 9 0 0 0 o ~ 0 o}
Il |LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 2 16 985 14 062 /] /] | /] 16988 14 062 |
1 Long-term borrowings 0 [i] 0 0 0 0 0 0]
2. Convertible bonds 0 0 0 0l [ 9 0] 0]
3. Debts from the issue of bonds 0 0 0 0 0! 0 0 0]
4. I and devel loans 10 785 8584 0 0 0 10785 8 584
5. Other long-term loans 6163 5478 0 0 0 6163 5478
6. Long-term liabilities to related parties 0 1] 0 0 0 0 o}
7 Long-term fiabilities to significant investments 0 0! 0 0 0 0 0 [i]
8 Long-term liabilities to other investments 0 0 0 0, [} 0 0| 0
9. Other long-term liabiln, 37 0 0 0 3 0 40) 0
Jll_|CURRENT LIABILITIES 86615 105 898 6420 9868 pij 37 89236 12579
1 Shont-term borowings 0 0 1] 0 0 0] 0 0
of which: convertible bonds 0 [ 0 0 0 0] 0 0
2 Other shori-term loans 9 681 13 691 1958 6 046 0 0] 11639 19 737]
3 Prepay received from debrors 4 3 0 0] 1 1 5 4
4. Creditors 9512 9568 605 520 0] 15 10117 10 103
5 Bills of exchange payable 0] 0! 0 0 0 0 0 0!
6. Short-term debts to related parties 18 803 26 586 10 47 0 0 18813 26 633
7 Short-term debts to significant iny 2040 i 501 0 0 0! 0 2040 1501
8 Short-term debts to other investments 9 27 0) 0 0 [ 9 27
9. Other current liabilities 46 566 54522 25 31 22 21 46613 54 574
10 Revaluation difference of liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0;
1 Loss on the reval of derivative trans of 0 0 0 0 0 0 [}
Liabiltties from inter-division of 0 38w 324 0 0 0 0
G |ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME 104 619| 107330 296 3i9 132 1o 105047 107779
1 Deferred income 180 146 0 0 13t 110 31 256)
2. Accrued exp 4030 4225 2961 339 I 0 4327 4 564
3 Deferred extracrdinary revenues and negative goodwill 100 409 102 959 0| 0 0 0| 100 409 102 959
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES, TOTAL 330775 356268 9281 12509 8107 84940|  3443410 34047

Table 63: Equity and liabilities side of MAV-START Zrt’s unbundled balance sheet
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IV.2 Profit and loss account disclosures

7
0

77

VT

Tem

Domestic sales. et

Export sales, net

le e (01.+02)
“1. Revenues from other intemal sctticments

B 4._Eenlrn1 management

Movements i

d iny
Capitalised own output ( tﬂ] F04)
Orher incone

Olhcrscrwces

Cnsl of_goods sold

Cost of (cons lgnrmm) scmccs
[Marerial-iype expenses (05.+06 +07.+08 +09. ’

1. Revenues from other E\fcmal smlu'nems
4 Central management
]Inu‘nml expenses ucuguunu-
__ Payrolicost
Other payments to personnel

|__Socialsecurity and other contributions
| o pcrmnncl_{_l_{i +71+i2)
[Depreciation chane
;Olﬂer expenses
| ofwhich impairment loss (862)
|OPERATING PROFIT (IS III-IV-V-VEVT)
: _Div'idends (Jue) Egei\_ﬁd;

_ofwhich: from related parties

Foreign exchange gain on di lof inves
of which: from related parties

Interest and gains on t ial in

of which: from related parties
Other interest recelvcd (due)and similar income
af w hich Srom related parties
_Other financial income
| ofnhlch revaluation d:ﬁ'reuu'
\Financial income (13.+14.415.+

+17.)

| Eg change loss on ﬁnancml in
1 ofwl C/l  to related purties
Foreign exchange loss and p on

|assets (secunities, loans)

lmpaumemof shares, sccurities, bank deposits

Other financial expenses

I ofwhich: rev aluulmn difference
|Financial | expenses (l.s’ +19.+20.

|PRE-TAX PROFIT (£A:B)
| TAXLIABILITY
|NET PROFIT (£C-X)

figures in HUF millions

Public service Non-public servie MAVSTART Zre, |
! ! ° wport | Other actisitics (E) Total |
{SK) SN}
2018 | 2019 | 2008 | 2019 _
62191 61612 3067
9349 11 000 4271

71440 72612 7338

157302 166390 3130[ 2559 0 3160433 16R 951
B 0 0 18933 19997
186 387 0|
£ s
15 498 0|
17977 305 |
180 762 3
377 0
46 623 33|
135 773 35|
2156 0
o 145
68 ol
174619 5027
148 115 16158
17719 2363
k7,
8 550 £
15 658 63 15330
92 092 391 a4
20269 0 0 19989
3192 9 17
322 9 171
1732 1764 1381
200 0 0/
[ 200 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 o 0
0 0 0 0 a 0
0 0 0 0| 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3 3 0 0] 0 0 23 2
0 0 0 0 0 0 0
B S J S [ ]
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
308 560 163 128 171 167 448” 704
0| 0 0 0] 0] 0| 0 0
0 0 0 0] i 0 [ 0
0 0 0 0| 0 0 0 0
[ 0] 0 0 0 0 0 X 0
| 03] a1 0 0] 0 0 404 a1t
0 0 0 0| 0 2 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0
572 155 3 -1 2502 706
0 0 0 0 0 0
| 983|155 El A 2906 TiI7
23 8 14 17| 2418 13
1309 63| 7778 1398 6779 27152
0 o] 0 o o o
1] & rra]  tsva] erm| 215

Table 64: MAV-START Zrt’s unbundled profit and loss account

Costs, expenses and revenues are primarily recognised for the controlling object that match the purpose
of occurrence. Costs, expenses and revenues are allocated to the relevant division in view of the
determined cost flow processes, specified projection bases and statistical indicators. The statement of
unbundled activities from a business perspective is presented in Table 67.
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IV.3 Cash flow disclosures

figures in HUF millions

Public sevice TNOH-UBIT Servie

MAV-START Znt.
Line Wsin J: wer rang J: Lt Other activities (E) Total
2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019
1 Operating cash flows (lines 1-13) 15232 23720 -1 365 2612 -740 359 13127 26692
la. _ |Pre-tax profit or loss + 4938 1309 63 -554 1778 1398 6779 2152
otiw'hich: l'manciall)j settled public service cost reimbursement and 136 151 136919 136 151 136919
reimbursement subsidy
Ib.  |Dividends received - -l -200 0 1) 0 0 -1 -200
le.  !Amounts received/transferred free of charge r ised in profit or loss + 305 0 0 0 0 0 305 0]
1d.  |Unrealised foreizn exchange rain or loss on liquid assets + 1 2 0 0 i -2 1 0
le. Realised foreign cxchfmg.e. gain or loss related to the repayment of long-term 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
-term liabilities +
n Unrealised foreign exchange gain or loss on non-current asseis and long-term 334 192 0 0 0 0 334 192
e Realised foreign exchange gain or loss related to the repayment of long-term 418 I o 0 0 0 418 20
-term hiabilities +
Z::imﬁed pre-tax profit or loss adjustments related to managed state-owned 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
li. _ |Non-current assets contributed + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 [1)
1j.__|Non-current assets granted free of charge + 0 0 0 0 Q 0 1] 0
Ik.  |Other non-specified adjustments to the pre-tax profit or loss + 35 -38 -2 1] [ 0 33 -38
I Adjusted pre-tax profit or loss (lat1btlc+Id+letIf gt Ih+li+1+1k) £ 6029 1,295 61 =554 1779 139 7 869, 2137
pa Amortisation charpe + 19 502 20 268, 87 481 0 0 19 989 20 750
3 Impairment loss recognised and reversed + 109 291 7 4 9 \7 125 312
4. Difference between provisions made and released + -1218 488 -55 -9 0 0 -1273 479
5 Gains/Losses on non-current asset disposals + -2 -5 0 0 0 0 -2 -5
6. Movements in creditors + -5516 <7426 -1827 -86 -l 15 7345 -7497
7. Movements in other current liabilities + 10935 17 384 -114 43 -8 -3 10813 17424
7a.__|Changes in intra-division settlements (liabilities) + -964 0 3822 -599 0! 1] 0 9
8. iMovements in accrued expenses and deferred income + -4474 -3975 -3 780! 43 -178 -2 8433 -3955
9. |Movements in debtors + -599 319 125 215 748 -326 275 207
10, {Movements in current assets (less debtors and liquid assets) + -9242 -5 371 -1919, 2874 305 -477 -10 856 -2974
i0a. [Changes in intra-division settlements (receivables) + 0 0 703 0 -3 562 599 0 0
1. _ |Movements in prepaid expenses and accrued income + 272 452 3725 200 168 160 4 165/ 813
12, |Income taxes paid, payable - [ 0 0 [ 0 0 0 0
13. _|Dividends paid, payable - 0 0 -2 200 0 0 -1 000 -2 200! -1 000
1L |Investing cash flows (lines 14-18) 17399 2317 -2 759 -6 685 L ¢ -20358, -29859
4. |Non-current asset additions - -17629 233717 -2759 -6 685 0 0] -20388] -30062
15.  {Non-current asset disposals + 9 2 0 0 0 0 29 2
16. _ |Long-term loans and bank deposits repaid, terminated, redeemed + 1 1 1 1
17 |Long-term loans granted and bank deposits placed - [ 0/ 0
18, |Dividends received + 1 200! 0 0! 0 0 ]} 200;
Hl.__|Financing cash flows (lines 19-27) 35235 666 1958 4 088 a 0 5483 4753
§9.  iShares issucd, capital injection + 1 865 0 0 0 0 0 | 865 [4)
18 {lssue of bonds and debt securities + 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
20 Loans and bormwinE taken + 13 443 3953 1958 4 088 0] 0 15 401 8 040/
21.  JAmounts received free of charge + 193 129 0 0 0 0 193 129
2. 'S_h:ares ithd. disinvestment (capital reduction) - 0 0 0 0 0 1] 0 0
23, 1Bonds and debt securities repaid - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4. [|Loans and borrowings repaid - -1 558 -3 116 0 0 0] -il558 -3116
26.  |Amounts transferred free of charge - -305 -300 0 0 0 0 -305 -300
27.__|Movements in liabilities t founders and in other long-term liabilities + -114 0 0 0 0 0 -114 0
1w Cash flows (I.+1L.+111,) 1159 1212 -2 167 15 -740 359 -1748 1586
28.  |Revaluation of cash and cash cquivalents held in foreizn exchange 0 -2 [} 0 -1 P) -1 0
¥ |CIumE in cash and cash z;uivaleuls ;l V.+ZBE 1159 1219 -2 166 15 -741 360 -1749 1586

Table 65: MAV-START Zrt’s unbundled cash flow statement
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IV.4 Statement of activities

MAV-START Zrt. prepared its supervisory report for 2019 pursuant to Section 8(4) of the GKM-PM Decree
50/2007 (26 April) and its effective accounting unbundling regulation.

The annual supervisory report is presented in two forms as a result of the new enterprise management
system implemented as of 1 January 2017:

1. broken down in accordance with section 2(1) of decree 50/2007.(IV. 26.) GKM-PM, which
includes cumulative figures resulting from the unbundled activities (recognised internal revenues
and recognise internal expenses) based on the general ledger module of the integrated corporate
governance system used by the Company (Table 66), and

2. operations based statement of activities, in which the settlements among the unbundled
activities are presented as allocated to the relevant cost type — based on the settlements recorded
in the Controlling module of the integrated corporate governance system used by the Company
(Table 67). The operations based statement of activities ensures the comparability of reporting
year figures with the previous period.

The statement of activities is prepared for public service passenger transport services, non-public service
passenger transportation and for other activities.
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figures in HUF thousands

MAV-START zrt. 2018 MAV-START zZrt. 2019
GRAND TOTAL Public Non-public Other TOTAL Public Non-public Other TOTAL
service service activities service service activities
Sales revenues, net 71 440 236 7338573] 21489 524| 100 268 334 72611637 7899810 19345182) 99856 630
of which: fares 50 692 317 3 640 848 0| 54333165 52018 041 3940059 0] 55958 100
domestic fares 42 248 619 812 055 0] 43060674 42331 865 891604 o 43223469
international fares 8443 698 2828793 0] 11272491 9686 176 3 048 455 o] 12734631
subsidised fares 17 530 040 320 461 0] 17850501 16 958 017 283891 0| 17241909
car rent received 2 933 607 1233 488 0 4 167 095 3177 811 1477 339 0] 4655150
Other intra-group revenues 157 302 167 3129832 230| 160432229] 166 390 561 2559 144 1656 168 951 361
Central administration revenues 18 933 250 0 0| 18933250 19 996 700 0 0| 1999 700
Capitalised own output 10 961 217 4 665 954 -305 214| 15321957 17 977 306 5 055 249 4900/ 23037 455
Other income 174 586 445 55 049 2700| 174644 194] 180761 480 14968 8521| 180784 969
of which: government reimbursement 165 889542 o o| 165889542] 174534417 o 0| 174534 417
- reimbursement for 2019 160 870 549 0 0| 160870549 173 640 875 0 0| 173640875
- reimbursement for previous years 5018 993 0 0 5018 993 893 542 0 0 893 542
Other internal settlements,expenses 138 763 502 5510 989 16 157 738| 160432229] 148 115 371 5673252] 15162738| 168 951361
Central administration expenses 16 175 307 393 996 2363947] 18933 250 17 719 115 405 895 1871690 19996 700
Material-type expenses 160 361 412 8024736 501560| 168887709 174619320 8429953 544 847| 183 594 120
of which: network access charge 73 508 750 0 0| 73508750 73786 444 10 0| 73786 454
traction and shunting 1628 993 102 748 0 1731 741 1694 343 108 001 0 1803 344
pre-heating, pre-cooling and lights 0 0 0 0} L] 0 0 0,
meintenance 8915 410 507 170, 29 643 95452223] 11045687 458 408 32491 11536586
RIC usage charge of raflcars 3338216 1152414 o| 44s0630| 4574040 402 189 o 4976238
rent of tracted and traction vehicles 8736 297 104537 ol 6840834 6297 868 398915 o] 6696783
lease of tracted and traction vehicles 234 923 0 0 234923 240 213 o 0 240 213
railcar cleaning costs 3 166 989 0 833 3 167 822 3300 439 0 19102 3319541
Central services 5096 139 34392 0 5130 530/ 5544 062 33392 42| 5577412
Floancel Snd accounting services 610526 0 0 610526 651864 0 of 651864
Hurran services (training, education,
health and safety) 2230 648 23822 o 2254 470 2714724 21411 42| 2736093
:e"’r:‘:;"‘"t' logistics, environmental 1886 070 10403 o| 1896473 1928524 11981 o] 1940505
Administrative costs 368 895 167 0 369 062, 248 950 0 0 248 950
Payments to personnel 87 428 816 1103 371 391254] 88923442 92092 124 1081653 382438 93 556 215
of which: payroll costs 63 701 802 740 283 278709] 64720 794 67 844 096 736522 275249| 68 855 867
fringe benefits 8636744 185 970 49933 8 872 647, 8589 881 176 249 45054| 8811184
payrol taxes 15 090 270 177 118 62612] 15330001 15 658 147 168 882 62135 15889 164
Depreciation 19 902 170 86 698 0] 19988868 20 268 402 481307 0| 20749709
Other expenses 3214537 14 102 8 585 3237 224 3191 407 5007 17221 3213635
Operating profi 7377571 55516| 1764156| 9197243 1731945 -547896] 1381325 2565374
Finandial ncome 308 150 162727 17 046 487 923 559 949 128411 15 955 704 315
Financial expenses 2747 889 155 075 3692 2906 656| 983 345 134 897 -957 1117 285
Financial loss or proft -2439 739 7652 13354 -2418733] -423 396 -6 486 16 912| -412970|
Pre-tax proft 4937 832 63168| 1777510 6778510 1308 549 -554382 1398237 2152404
Tax liabiity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net profit 4937 832 63168] 1777510 6778510 1308 549 -554382| 1398237 2152404

Table 66: MAV-START Zrt’s profit and loss account per activity in the GL
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figures in HUF thousands

MAV START Zit. 2018 MAV START Zrt. 2019
RAND TOTAL
S Publicservice | MOPUNC |l ou . actvities|  ToTAL | Publicservice | MOTPUNC | oper aetivities|  TOTAL
service service

Sales reveruies, net 71 440 236 7338 573 21 489 524 100 268 334) 72 611637 7899 810 19 345 182 99 856 630)
of which: fares 45 160 436] 2710677] 0] 45 871 113 47 410 834 26809873 0| 50220 707
domestic fares 37 885 423 722 314 0 38 607 737] 38 000874 793 414 0 33 794 289|

intemational fares 8 275 013 1988 363 0 10263 377} 9 409 950 2 016 459 of 11 426 418

ised fares 17 530 040 320 461 [ 17 850 501 16 958 017] 283 891 o] 17 241 909)

car rent received 2 933 607 1233 488} 0 4167 095) 3177811 147739 0 4 655 150]
|Capitalised own output 10 961 217 4 665 954 -305 214] 15 321 957 18 377550 5 005 503 -345 687, 23 037 455)
Other income 173 959 752 158 636] 525806] 174 644 194) 180 460 086) 73 664 251 219 180 784 969|
of which: g imby 165 889 542| o] o iesesese| 174534417 0 o 17539417

- reimb for 2019 160 870 549) 0 of  160870548] 173 640875] 0 0 173 640 875)

- rei for previous years 5 018 993 0 of 5018 993| 893 542 0 0 893 542
Operating income 256361205] 12163164] 21710116] 290234485] 271449274]  12979066] 19250714] 303679 054
Material-type expenses 154 137 728) 8 672 496 6077485] 168887709 167952988 10 041 609 5 599 523 183 594 120]
of which: network acaess charge 73 246 513 217 498 44 739] 73508 750] 73525907 205 208 55 339) 73 786 454)
traction and shunting 1627519 102 746] 1 476 1731 741] 1694 343 109 001 0| 1 803 344
pre-heating, pre-aooling and lights 0 of o] of 0 0 of 0]
maintenance 8 485 758 698 966] 267 499] 9452 223| 9984 278] 1267 990, 284 319 11 536 536

RIC usage charge of railcars 4233 ossl 257565 oI 4490 630| 4445 357I 517558 13323 5976 239

rent of tracted and traction vehicles 6716 519 8 871 25 443 6840 834 6 256 138] 403 029) 37 616 6 696 783
lease of tractad and traction vehicles 229320 5575 28 234923 238 779| 9 1424 240213
railcar cleaning costs 3112 9% 43 060 11823 3167822 3229 685] 62 939) 27917 3319 541]
Central services 4.364 505 236 676] 529 350 5130 530 4811 939] 217429 548 044 55774121
[Financial and accounting services 522 649 13 304 74 572 610 526 567 516] 12 906, 71 443 651 864)
”“f’"a‘)‘ senvices {training, education, heslth and 1945 896 90 670 217903 2254470 2412445 9 868 24780 2736 093
Procurement, logistics, environmental services 1578 475 124 025 193973 1896473 1614802 100517 225 186 1940 505
inistrative costs 317 484 8 676, 42 901 369 062) 217 176 5139 26 635 248 950
Payments to 75 699 472, 3062291 10161 679) 85 923 442 81 496 113] 3 098 516 8961 186 93 556 215
of whith: payroll costs 55 093 3% 2142873 7434 523 64720 794 59 997 136] 2 206 162 6 652 569) 68 855 867]
fringe benefits 7533 088) 49 212 930 346, 8 872 647] 7 641 145] 387 585 782 454 8 811 184)
payroll taxes 13 072 985 510 206 1746 810] 15 330 001 13857832 505 169 1526 164 15 889 164
Depreciation 16 562 892 263 357 3162 618, 19 988 868] 17435 019] 329870 2934 820 20 749 709)
Other expenses 2933 491 57 671 246 062 323722 2887135 47 893 278 607 3213635
249333582] 12055815 19647 844] 281037 242] 269771256] 13518288 17824136 301113 680

g profit 7027 622 107 348| 2062 272 9197 243] 1678018 -539 222 1426578 2565 374

o — 264 022 169 434 54 467) e 488 370) 139 317 76 627 704 315
Financial expenses 2353 812 213 614 339 229 2906 656] 857839 154 477 104 969 1117 285|
Finandal loss 2089790 -44 180 -284762] -2418 ml 369 468 <15 161 28342 -a12 91o|
Tax liability 0 0 0 o] D 0 0 o]
[Net profit 4937832 63168| 1777 510 6778 510 1308549 -554 382 1398 237| 2152 404
ptions for 4937832 0 0 4937 832 1308549 0 0 1308549
Reimbursement related to previous years 5018 993 A : T 893542 : : 893 542
Impairment loss recognised, reversed -43 319 0 0 % 319' -29 967| 0 ol -29 %7
Penakies paid, recharged -2 662) 0 0 -2662] 5705 0 o] 5715
Provisions used, made 713 916] 0 0 713 916§ 448 500 0 0] 448 500
Reimbursement related ta previous years 543 721 " -168) -168)

= 0 0 543721 0 0
Other -205 376 0 0 -205 376 2357 0 0 2357,
Net profit after exceptions oI 63 168 1777 sn'il 1840 ml 0 -554 382 1398 237 843 854}

Table 67: MAV-START Zrt’s statement of activities from a business perspective
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IV.4.1 Namrrative to the rail passenger transportation supervisory report

iIV.4.1.1 Revenves

The net sales revenues of MAV-START Zrt. in 2019 amounted to HUF 99,857m (2018: HUF 100,268m) of
which:

» HUF 38,794m were domestic fare revenues, a HUF 478m increase on the previous year (2018:
HUF 38,608m),

% international fare revenues of HUF 11,426m, a HUF 1,163m increase on the previous year (2018:
HUF 10,263m),

» fare subsidies totalled HUF 17,242m (2018: HUF 17,851m).

Other income includes mostly government reimbursement of passenger transport service costs totalling
HUF 174,534m, of which HUF 173,641m related to the reporting year.

In 2019, other income also included extra reimbursement related to previous years as approved by the
Principal of HUF 894. (Reimbursement for 2018: HUF 160,871m, reimbursement for the previous years
recognised in 2018: HUF 5,019m.)

In 2019, MAV-START Zrt’s operating income totalled HUF 303,679m (2018: HUF 290,234m).

IV.4.1.2 Costs and expenses

Operating expenses totalled HUF 301,114m (2018: HUF 281,037m).

Material-type expenses totalled HUF 183,594m in 2019 (2017: HUF 168,888m), and included the
following key items:

> Network access charge (rail track usage charge and other rail track services): HUF 73,786m (2018:
HUF 73,509m);

» Traction by partner railways: HUF 1,803m (2018: HUF 1,732m);

> Maintenance services used: HUF 11,537m (2018: HUF 9,452m);

> HUF 4,976m expense paid by MAV-START Zrt. for the number of kilometres run by rail passenger

cars owned by partner railway companies (2018: HUF 4,491m);

Railcar rent: HUF 6,697m (2018: HUF 6,841m);

Railcar wash costs: HUF 3,320m (2018: HUF 3, 168m);

Central services

o financial and accounting services HUF 652m (2018: HUF 611m),

o human services (education, training, work health and safety services) HUF 2,736m (2018:
HUF 2,254m),

o procurement, logistics and environmental services: HUF 1,941m (2018: HUF 1,896m),
o administrative services: HUF 249m (2018: HUF 369m).

YV VY

Payments to personnel by MAV-START Zrt. in 2019 totalled HUF 93,556m, of which payroll costs amount
to HUF 68,856m, fringe benefits HUF 8,811m and payroll taxes HUF 15,889m. (2018: payments to
personnel total: HUF 88,923 m, payroll cost HUF 64,721m, fringe benefits HUF 8,872m, payroll taxes HUF
15,330m).

In 2019, depreciation charge totalled HUF 20,750m (2018: HUF 19,989m).
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Other expenses totalled HUF 3,214m and include payments relating to damages paid, penalties and
default interest, financial assistance, expense contributions, impairment of inventories and receivables
and provisions made (2018: HUF 3,237m).

Financial income include interest received on fixed-term deposits, foreign exchange gains on receivables
and liabilities. Financial expenses include interest on overdrafts and project loans, and realised foreign
exchange loss on receivables and liabilities.

Overall, the Company had a financial loss of HUF -413m for 2019 (2018: HUF 2,418m).

IV.4.2 Narrative to the supervisory report on rail passenger transportation
performed as a public service

IV.4.2.1 Revenues

MAV-START Zrt’s net revenues from public service passenger transport services totalled HUF 72,612m in
2019, including HUF 47,411m fare revenues and HUF 16,958m social fare subsidy. (2018: net revenues
HUF 71,440m, of which fares HUF 46,160m and social fare subsidy HUF 17,530m.)

Other income comprises predominantly the HUF 174,534m government subsidy (reimbursement) of
passenger transport services (2018: HUF 165,890m). As required by the ministry, the reversed
impairment loss on debtors, re-charged penalties and fines, provisions used (except provisions for
maintenance costs and loan revaluations) recognised among other income are exceptional items and are
not considered in the calculation of the annual reimbursable costs. The total of these exceptional amounts
(including HUF 894m recognised for the previous year) was HUF 2,179m (Exceptional income in 2018: HUF
6,374m, of which reimbursement related to previous periods HUF 5,019m.)

MAV-START Zrt’s operating income related to public services totalled HUF 271,449m in 2019 (2018: HUF
256,361m).

IV.4.2.2 Costs and expenses

Operating expenses on public passenger transport services in 2019 totalled HUF 269,771m (2018: HUF
249,334m).

Material-type expenses on public services totalled HUF 167,953m in 2019 (2018: HUF 154,138m), and
included the following key items:
» Network access charge (rail track usage charge and other rail track services): HUF 73,526m (2018:
HUF 73,274m);
» Traction by partner railways: HUF 1,694m (2018: HUF 1,628m);
» Maintenance services used in relation to public service passenger services: HUF 9,984m {2018:
HUF 8,486m);
» HUF 4,445m expense paid by MAV-START Zrt. for the number of kilometres run by rail passenger
cars owned by partner railway companies (2018: HUF 4,233m);
Railcar rent in relation to public service passenger services: HUF 6,256m (2018: HUF 6,717m);
Railcar wash costs in 2019: HUF 3,230m (2018: HUF 3,113 m).
Of central services, the costs attributable to public passenger transport service were as follows:
o financial and accounting services HUF 568m (2017: HUF 523m),
o human services {(education, training, work health and safety services) HUF 2,412m (2018:
HUF 1,946m),

VvV VYV
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o procurement, logistics and environmental services: HUF 1,615m (2018: HUF 1,578 m),
o administrative services: HUF 217m (2018: HUF 317m).

Payments to personnel incurred in 2019 totalled HUF 81,496m, less the expenses of non-public workers
(2018: HUF 75,699m).

Depreciation charge related to public services totalled HUF 17,435m (2018: HUF 16,563 m).

Other expenses on public service passenger transport in 2019 totalled HUF 2,887m (2018: HUF 2, 933m).

Of other expenses, items that are excluded from the reimbursable items (impairment of receivables,
penalties paid, fines, provisions made except provisions for maintenance costs and for the revaluation of
loans) totalled HUF 870m in 2019. (Excluded expenses in 2018: HUF 892m.)

Financial income from rail passenger transportation performed as a public service include interest
received on fixed-term deposits, foreign exchange gains on receivables and liabilities. Financial expenses
include the interest paid on overdrafts and project loans, and realised foreign exchange loss on receivables
and liabilities.

Overall, the Company had a financial loss of HUF 0369m for 2019 (2018: HUF -369m) on public services.

For the calculation of reimbursable annual expenses, the Company does not take into account the

payments to on-call public service staff funded from reasonable profits. The resulting reducing adjustment
was HUF 0,168m (2018: HUF 544m).

IV.5 Other disclosures relating to unbundling

Revenues from and expenses incurred toward related parties are included per related party in the tables
below.

figures in HUF millions

Revenues Expenses
Related party Sales 'Olher l'?mmcial Totl Costs Other Financial Total Grand total
revenues, net | income | income expenses expenses
015 MAV NOSZTALGIA Kt 7 1 0 8 [3] 0 0 63 -55
020 MAV VAGON KRt 1 0 206) 207 1448 8 19 1475 -1268
100 MAV Znt_ Anyavallalat 47 18] 0 65 113130 375 0 113505 -113440}
101 MAV FKG KRt 1 1] 0 1 1] 0 0 1 0|
131 MAVKFV KRt 0] 0 0 0 0 0] 0 0 0
138 MAV Szolgahato Kozpont Zrt 57 36 0 9 11206 18 0 124 131
179 ZAHONY-PORT Zrt 0] 0 0 19 0| 0 39 -39
194 MAV-HEV Z1t 3 20| 0 b3 13 18 0 3 K
Grand total 15 73 206 397 125900 i 19 126338 -125941|

Table 68: Related parties - public service passenger transport
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figures in HUF millions

Revenues _Expenses.
Related party Sales Other  Financial Total Costs Other Financial Total
revenues, net| income | income expenses | expenses
015 MAV NOSZTALGIA Kt 4 T 5 139) 0 0
020 MAV VAGON Kf 10] 0 0 10 1] 0 0
100 MAV I Amavnllalat 0 0 0 0 28 0 0
101 MAV Fl\G Kft 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
131 MAV KFV KR 1 0 0 I 0 0 0
138 MAV Szolgaltatd Kozpont Zrt 0 0 0 0 58 0 0
|79 ZAHONY PORT Znt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
194 MAV-HEV Zrt. 0 0 0 o o 0
Grand total 15 0 1| 16 226 | 0| 0

Table 69: Related parties - non-public service passenger transport

figures in HUF millions

Revenues _ Expenses 3]

Related party Sales 'Olher Financial Total Costs Other Financial Total
revenues, net | income income expenses expenses

015 MAV NOSZTALGIA KR G 0 0 1) I I | B ]
020 MAV VAGON KR _ T 0 0 9 3 0 0 3
100 MAV Zrt Anyavillalst 4161 0 o alel 10 [J 0 10]
101 MAV FKG Kﬁ 147, 0 0 47 0 0] 0 0]
131 MAVKFVKR 20 0 0 120 o] 0 0 of
138 MAV Szolgiltato Kozpont Zrt 10 0 0 10] 0 0 0 0]
179 ZAHONY -PORT Zrt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
194 MAV-HEV Zrt 128 0 0 28 0 0 0 0|
Grand total | 1738 0 [} 4738 13 0 0 13

Table 70: Related parties - other activities

figures in HUF millions

Revenues | Expenses |
Related party Sales 'Other F.innnc'ml Total Costs Other Financial Total [ Grand total
revenues, net| income Income expenses expenses

O WAVNOSZTALGIAR |1 1w w00 &
020 MAV VAGON Kft. 20 0 206 26 1432 8 19| s
100 MAV Zrt Anyavallalat 4208] 18] 0426 113168 375 o B8] 109317
10 MAV FKGKft 148 0 0 148 i 0 0 1] 147
[131 MAVKFV KR ) 0 1 0| 0 q 0 12
138 MAV Szolggltat6 Kozpont Z1t 61 3 0 0T O el
179 ZAHONY-PORT Z1t 0 0 0 0 ) 0| 0 3 -39
194 MAV-HEV 21 131 20 0 151 13 18 0 _JTI 120
(Grand total ] , 4869 75 207 Si1s1| 126139 409 9 126577 -12'17231

Table 71: Related parties - MAV-START Zrt.

Annual average statistical number of employees in 2019:

Actmty No, of staff
!Publlc service passenger transport _ 13 816
]Non-p_ubllc ser_vxce_‘ga_ssen ger transport 109}
\Company, total: 13 925

Table 72: Annual average statistical number of employees per activity
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The assets, liabilities and employees are directly assigned to the Company’s divisions reflected in the
balance sheet (SK, SN, E divisions). The employees serving all separable activities were mostly assigned to
the passenger transportation activity as a public service on the basis of the majority principle.

Subsidies by title per activity

figures in HUF millions

Public service Non-public service

Other activities MAV-START Zrt.
Item passenger transport | passenger transport

in2018 | in2019 | in2018 | in2019 | in2018 | in2019| in2018 | in2019

[Subzidiced farcs on Seclal grovnds’y 17530 16958 320 84 0 0| 17850 17242
if{eimbursed excise tax on gasoline use* 4422 31825 0 0 0 0 4422 1825
Development subsidy 7498 14 240 0 0 0 0 7498 14 240
of which:

KOZOP-IKOP INKA subsidy

IKOP 39 11 high capacity
trains 0 6 009 0 0 0 0 0 6 009

IKOP Tram Train

105 0 0 0 0 0 105 0

0 31 0 0 0 0 0 31
FLIRT ETCS installation in 59

trains 2926 0 0 0 0 0 2926 0
IKOP 8 high capacity trains 3870 7132 0 0 0 0 3 870 7732
IKOP-INKA 2 subsidy 597 468 0 0 0 0 597 468
Public service reimbursement 165890 174 534 0 0 0 0| 165890 174 534

GINOP-187 "Spektrum" received to
cover expenses 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 8
Recognised subsidics, total 195340 209 565 320 284 0| 195660 209 849
Of which: recognised as income 183420 191 500 320 284 0 0| 183740 191 784

Table 73: Subsidies recognised in the reporting year
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V Cost reimbursement for public service and funding in 2019

Pursuant to the rail passenger transportation public service contract between the Company and the
Hungarian State, the Company is entitled to be reimbursed for eligible expenses relating to the public
services defined in the contract and not covered by revenues.

According to the 2019 clause of the public service contract, the amount of cost reimbursement projected
for the public service was HUF 156,854m. Costs related to public services ordered and confirmed by the
principal (NFM) not covered by revenues totalling HUF 173,641m were reimbursed and recognised in the
financial statements for 2019, which is by HUF 16,787m more than the amount specified in the clause.
The actual cost reimbursement is recognised upon the submission of the public service report for 2019,
following the preparation of the annual financial statements for 2019.

In 2019, other income also included extra reimbursement related to the previous year as approved by the
Principal (reasonable profit): HUF 894m. As a result, a total reimbursement of HUF 174,534m was
recognised in 2019.

The Company’s receivables from the state for public service cost are presented below:
figures in HUF millions

Reasonable
, Receivables at | Liabilitiesat | Prones | Financial | Net
Period 1 Jun 2019 1 Jan 2019 recognised | settlements |reccivables at
for 2013 and = in2019 | 31 Dec 2019 |
| 2018
12014 4615 0 0 4615 0
%2016 3494 0 0 3494 0
2017 3240 0 0 3240 0
2018 28 040 0 894 28 934 0
|Previous years, total 19 389 0 894 40283 0
2019 0 0 0 0 37615
|Grand total 39 389 0 894 40 283 37615

Table 74: MAV-START Zrt. — public service cost reimbursement

Revenues from reimbursement:

figures in HUF millions

Reimbursement related income 2018 2019
|Justified cost not covered with revenues 160 871 173 641
b bl fi 1 i
Reasonable profits related to previous years 5019 89 4:
:Total: 165 890 174 535

Table 75: Revenues from reimbursement

Under the cost basis of accounting, a total governmental reimbursement of HUF 156,854m was received
in 2019. Of this amount, HUF 20,829m related to public services in the previous year and was received in
January. HUF 136,025m was received between February and October to cover the costs of operations in
2019.

In addition to the reimbursement of expenses in the previous years of 2014 to 2018, the Company became
entitled to additional reimbursement related to previous years totalling HUF 19,454m which was
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transferred to the Company’s bank account during the course of 2019. This reimbursement fully settled
all the reimbursable costs incurred for the years 2014 to 2018.

At the balance sheet preparation date, an outstanding amount of HUF 37,615m receivable for 2019 was
reduced by HUF 20,829m received in January 2020. As a result, the Company carried reimbursable costs
totalling HUF 16,786m in relation to the years 2013-2019.
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